
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, July 27, 2023                                                                                      Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of July 13, 2023 

 
4. Public Hearing:  213 Nebraska Street – Plantz Residence (Ref #107) 

Request: Proposed new single-family home for the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, zoned R-2, 
requiring 8 variances.  (PIN: 19-09-28-204-005-0000)  
 

5. Public Hearing Continued from 5/11/23: 7654 W. Lincoln Highway - Circle K Redevelopment (Ref 
#108) (CONTINUANCE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO 8/10/23 REQUESTED APPLICANT) 
Request:  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) from the default ER Estate Residential District to the B-2 
Community Business District (currently Will County C-2 Local Commercial District and C-3 General 
Commercial District) upon annexation; Special Use Permits for (1) an automobile fueling station, (2) 
accessory liquor sales, and (3) extended hours of operation (24 hours, 7 days per week); and requests for 
variations related to the front and rear building setbacks, depth of a landscape transition yard (along Route 
30), quantity of plant materials in the landscape transition yard (along Route 30), signage, and cross-access 
(PIN: 19-09-24-101-029). 

 
6. Public Hearing: 20 Elwood Street – Move Pilates Studio (Ref#109) 

Requests: (1) Special Use Permit for an Indoor Recreation Use for a Pilates Studio, and (2) Special Use 
Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 5:00 a.m.) in the H-1 Historic District (PIN: 19-09-21-
410-035-0000). 
 

7. Public Hearing: 9975 W. Lincoln Highway Unit 3 – Veelii Spa (Ref#110) 
Requests: (1) Special Use Permit for a Massage Establishment in the B-2 Community Business District 
(PIN: 19-09-21-416-002-0000). 
 

8. Public Comments 
 

9. Village Board & Committee Updates  
 

10. Other Business 
 

11. Attendance Confirmation (August 10, 2023) 
 

12. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 7/13/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        July 13, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Nichole Schaeffer, Dan Knieriem, Paula Wallrich, Jessica 
Jakubowski, Will Markunas 

Commissioners Absent: Brian James, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Planner Amanda Martinez 

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from June 22nd, 2023 

Commissioner Wallrich noted that the word “no” should be inserted in Paragraph 6 on 
Page 6, before “need for the second variation…”. 

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from June 22nd, 2023, as amended. 

Motion by: Wallrich   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Chair Schaeffer swore in members of the public who wanted to provide testimony. 

B. Public Hearing: 9645 Lincolnway Lane Units 105-107 – El Mezcal Restaurant 
(Ref#107) 
 
Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if any members had initial questions.  There were none. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if the applicant wanted to make any additional comments.  

Veronica Chavez approached the podium and reaffirmed that Mike’s presentation covered 
the business’s proposed request.  

 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 7/13/23 | Page 2 
 

Chair Schaeffer asked if any of the Plan Commissioners had comments or questions. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff if this is a request for a Special Use Permit because the 
applicant must obtain a liquor license. 

Mike Schwarz responded that with or without a liquor license request, any outdoor seating 
area associated with a permitted restaurant much apply for a Special Use Permit for outdoor 
seating.  He added that the previous restaurants at this location, including Little Joe’s and 
El Pueblito were granted Special Use Permits for full-service restaurants with liquor sales, 
and Little Joe’s also was granted a Special Use Permit for outdoor seating according to 
Village records.  Mike added that when alcohol is being served in conjunction with a 
restaurant outdoor seating area, the business must provide a fence to contain the outdoor 
seating area.  The original Planned Unit Development for the Crown Centre building 
established the existing communal seating area as an amenity for all building tenants.  This 
area is not devoted to any one business or tenant.   

Commissioner Knieriem stated that he has no issues with the request and thinks it goes 
well with the building. 

Commissioner Markunas mentioned people use the communal space for seating when they 
are having a drink anyway, so it is nice to see the applicant contain their patrons who are 
having a drink. Markunas added that the subject area is tucked away behind the building 
which helps not impose on the public right-of way. 

Commissioner Wallrich pointed out that the black color chosen for the furniture may be 
too contrasting compared to the existing white building furniture and that the table 
placement seemed too tight. 

Veronica Chavez responded that they would use a waitress to have control over tables and 
that they may have to move tables around if there is a large group sitting together, so the 
placement shown on the application is not exact. 

Commissioners had discussion about the gate location on the proposed fencing to ensure 
there are clear entrances and exits. 

Veronica Chavez inquired where the proper place for the gate would be.  

Mike Schwarz responded that the proposed outdoor seating area will also be reviewed by 
the Building Department as a condition of the special use permit. Mike added that most 
likely the southern fence line will be the where the emergency exit gate would be placed. 

Commissioners had discussion about how the public would walk around the outdoor 
seating area to get to other parts of the building.  There was consensus that the other existing 
sidewalks within and adjacent to the existing outdoor seating area for the building provides 
accessible pathways leading from the rear parking spaces to the building entrances/exits.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 7/13/23 | Page 3 
 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if other commissioners had commentary on the proposed 
outdoor seating furniture.  

Commissioner Knieriem mentioned his preference would be not to try to match the 
proposed and existing furniture colors.  Sometimes trying to match similar colors doesn’t 
yield the best results.    

Mike Schwarz pointed out that the motion provided for this project includes a condition 
stating an April 1st start date and October 31st end date for the outdoor seating. Mike 
mentioned that the section of the Liquor Chapter in the Municipal Code that regulates beer 
gardens is silent on a Spring start date but specifies October 31st as a seasonal end date. 

Commissioner Wallrich responded that those dates are normal and fine and asked the 
applicant if there will be outdoor heaters for the outdoor seating area. 

Veronica Chavez responded that she would put up outdoor heaters if she is allowed to. If 
outdoor heaters are not allowed, she will not look to do so. 

Mike Schwarz reaffirmed that the outdoor beer garden section of the Liquor Chapter in the 
Municipal Code is silent with respect to outdoor heaters.  He noted that the fencing would 
be allowed to stay outside regardless of the start and end date, however, all other 
furnishings would need to be taken down at the end of the season per the language in the 
Liquor Chapter of the Municipal Code. 

Veronica Chavez asked if weather is permitting, for example in March, can the business 
utilize the outdoor seating area. 

Chair Schaeffer responded that as the suggested condition is currently written, April 1st 
would be the hard date that the business can start to service the outdoor seating area. 

Commissioner Markunas asked staff what the dates for downtown businesses are. 

Mike responded that the Liquor Chapter of the Municipal Code does not mention a standard 
start date for outdoor seating areas.  The downtown businesses that have the outdoor seating 
on public right-of-way are subject to individual lease agreements with the Village.   

Commissioner Markunas stated that in his opinion this restaurant should not have to uphold 
to different standards as far as imposing an April 1st start date that is not mentioned in the 
Liquor Chapter of the Municipal Code. 

Commissioners discussed letting the October 31st end date language in the Liquor Chapter 
of the Municipal Code govern the end date to be stated in the condition. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she will read the motion with an amendment to take out the 
suggested April 1st start date in the condition. Schaeffer added that the Liquor Chapter of 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 7/13/23 | Page 4 
 

the Municipal Code would need to be changed in order to do a clean sweep and govern it 
all at once if the Village wanted to specify the same earliest start date for all outdoor beer 
gardens. 

Motion (#2): Close the public hearing.  
 
Motion by: Knieriem                    Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)  

Motion (#3): To recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a 
permanent outdoor seating area associated with a permitted restaurant on the property 
located at 9645 Lincolnway Lane Units 105-107, in accordance with the reviewed plans, 
public testimony and Findings of Fact and conditioned upon the following:  
 
1. Final review, inspection, and approval by the Building Department; and, 
2. All tables, chairs, and other fixtures annually shall be removed and stored elsewhere 

from the outdoor seating area by October 31st. 
 

Motion by: Markunas                    Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (5-0) 

C. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

D. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted the following updates on PC/ZBA items:   

• Olde Frankfort Mall Proposed Building Addition at 15 Ash Street – Mike noted 
that this project was discussed at the Committee-of-the-Whole meeting on July 11, 
2023.  There was lengthy discussion about parking for the proposed residential units 
and the proposed Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R’s) or rental rules 
depending on whether the project will include condominium units to be platted or 
will include apartment units. 

• Misty Creek – Mike noted that the Village Board approved the Final Development 
Plan and Preliminary/Final Plat of Subdivision for the Misty Creek Subdivision 
located at the northwest corner of Laraway Road and 116th Avenue. 

• Morgan Residence Pergola at 10677 Yankee Ridge Drive – Mike noted that the 
requested variation to exceed the maximum 250 square-foot area for an accessory 
structure received a denial vote due to the lack of a land hardship presented. Mike 
also gave the commissioners a heads up that the possibility of Zoning Ordinance 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 7/13/23 | Page 5 
 

text amendment may come back to a future Plan Commission/Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting for Commissioners to further discuss the idea of having a sliding 
scale for the size of vertical accessory structures such as pergolas and pool cabanas, 
as related to the size of a lot.  There is no plan to make any changes to the existing 
maximum impervious surface coverage requirements. 
 

E. Other Business 

Chariman Schaeffer announced that there is a new staff member at the meeting, Planner, 
Amanda Martinez.  

Amanda provided a short introduction about herself and expressed excitement for her 
new position at the Village of Frankfort and to be able to work with the Plan 
Commissioners. 

F. Attendance Confirmation (July 27th, 2023) 

Chair Schaeffer asked the members of the Plan Commission who will be present at the July 
27th meeting. Chair Schaeffer also noted she may or may not be present for the next meeting 
due to work travel. 

Commissioners who were present responded that they will be present on July 27th. 
Commissioner Jakubowski asked if the agenda items for the July 27th meeting were known 
by staff. 

Mike responded that there are approximately five or six items currently on the draft agenda 
for the July 27th meeting.  Mike provided a brief overview of each item that may appear on 
the agenda.  

Motion (#4): Adjournment 7:11 P.M. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Jakubowski 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (5-0). 

Approved July 27th, 2023 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichie Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



Planning Commission / ZBA                                              S      July 27, 2023 

Project: Plantz Residence – 213 Nebraska Street   
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Variations (8) 
Location: 213 Nebraska Street 
Applicant: Ronald Plantz 
Prop. Owner: Ronald Plantz   
Representative: Gabriel Garcia c/o Ideal Custom Designs, Inc. 

Site Details 

Lot Size: 6,687 sq. ft.            Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN: 19-09-28-204-005-0000
Existing Zoning: R-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ detached garage 
Proposed house: 2,511 sq. ft. (gross living area) 
Proposed garage: 648 sq. ft. 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

The applicant, Ronald Plantz, seeks to construct a new single-family home with detached garage.  A 15’ wide public 
alley abuts the property along the east side property line.  Historically, lots in Frankfort that have an alley along 
one side of the lot are still considered “traditional” lots and not corner lots.  The proposed house style is 
considered “Victorian Cottage”.  To accommodate the proposed addition and garage, the applicant requests 
approval of eight (8) variations.   

Attachments 
1. Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000
2. Plat of Survey of existing site, prepared by Preferred Survey, Inc.
3. Applicant responses to Variation Findings of Fact, received July 10, 2023
4. PC-ZBA meeting minutes excerpt from workshop and public hearing, August 11, 2022 and October 27, 2022
5. Village Board meeting minutes excerpt from November 7, 2022
6. Downtown Residential Guidelines (Quick Checklist excerpt)
7. Structural Analysis of building foundation, prepared by John Martin, Structural Engineering, Inc., June 19, 2023
8. Site Photographs, provided by applicant taken fall 2021

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family R-2 

East Residential Single-Family R-2 

West Residential Single-Family R-2 

1



9. Color 3D rendering of the house as it would appear from Nebraska Street, received July 11, 2023 
10. Site Plan, Building Elevations and Floorplans, received July 12, 2023  
11. Grading Plan and Existing Conditions, Removal and Erosion Control Plans, received July 11, 2023 
12. Recorded Plat of Resubdivision 

    
History 
 
A variant form of this project had received approval of 7 variations from the Village Board on November 7, 2022.  
At that time, the project was described as a remodel since the basement and portions of the 1st and 2nd floors were 
to be maintained.  However, the existing house was completely demolished on or around May 1, 2023.  The 
existing basement was also inspected by a structural engineer, who determined that the basement should not be 
used for new construction (see attached letter).  Because the former project could no longer abide by the 
“approved plans and public testimony”, it must be reviewed again by the PC/ZBA for a recommendation to the 
Village Board.  The proposed house and detached garage are largely staying the same as the last project, although 
an additional variation is required for an undersized dwelling unit (small house size).  The current requested eight 
(8) variations are:  

 
CURRENT PROPOSAL 

Variation Request Code Requirement Former House Formerly 
Approved 

Current Request 

House front yard setback 30’ from front 
property line 

16.2’ 12’ 7” 12’ 5 ¾” 

1st Floor masonry 
requirement 

Masonry Wood siding Wood composite, 
some masonry 

Wood composite, 
some masonry 

Accessory building 
setback (rear yard/north) 

10’ from property 
line 

6.2’ 5’ 7” 5’ 7” 

Rear Yard Coverage 30% max (608 SF) 31.1% (630 SF) 32% (648 SF) 32% (648 SF) 
Lot Coverage 20% maximum 

(1,337.4 SF) 
20.7% (1,381 SF)  32.8% (2,194 SF) 32.8% (2,194 SF) 

Impervious Lot Coverage 40% maximum 
(2,674.8 SF) 

41% (2,744 SF)  41.9% (2,804 SF) 41.9% (2,804 SF) 

Garage Height 15’ <15’ 20’ 5 ½” 20’ 5 ½” 
Single-family home area 
(for 2-story house) 

2,600 SF 1,413 SF N/A 2,511 SF 

 
The main change to the plans since last time is that the house was shifted 1 ¼” closer to the street.  The variation 
for house size is now needed because the project involves a completely new house and is not a remodel of an 
existing house.  Previously, the existing house was small, but was being made larger and less non-conforming, 
although still non-conforming.  In instances where an existing structure is being made more conforming but still 
not conforming, a variation is not needed.   
 
Analysis 
 

Proposed Home – Requested Variations: 

In consideration of the variation requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

1. House Front Yard Setback 
 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance requires a minimum front yard setback of 30’ within the R-2 
zoning district.  Front setbacks are measured to the front porch if there is one, otherwise they are 
measured to the front façade.   

2



 
b) The applicant proposes to construct the new home at a reduced setback of 12’ 5 ¾”, measured to the new 

front porch (the former house was setback was 16.2’).  
 

c) The following tables list the approximate front yard setbacks of the homes on both sides of Nebraska 
Street between the Fire Station (Elm Street) and Hickory Street:  
 

 
 

North Side of Nebraska (between Elm & 
Hickory) 

Address 
Front Yard Setback Approximation 

(feet) 
311 50 
249 20 
253 24 
247 26 
243 15 
237 14 
231 20 
221 16 
213  16.2’ existing (12’ 5 ¾” proposed) 
211 22 
203 18 
143 24 
139 18 

Average 21.8 (existing) 
 

South Side of Nebraska (between Elm & 
Hickory) 

Address 
Front Yard Setback 

Approximation (feet) 
266 28 
258 45 
248 33 
244 28 
240 30 
236 40 

102 (Maple) 29 
220 22 
218 16 
200 17 
144 10 
136 14 

102 (Hickory) 20 
Average 26 

 
2. First Floor Building Materials variation 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance requires that all homes within the R-2 zoning district be 
constructed with first floor masonry (brick, stone, etc.).  The proposed house would be primarily faced 
with LP Smart Siding (wood composite) with accents of LP shake siding. The base of the house would be 
wrapped with rock face stone on all four sides.  The chimney would also be full masonry.   
 
 

3



b) Most of the homes along both sides of Nebraska Street between the Fire Station and Hickory Street are 
non-masonry in construction.  There is only one masonry house on the north side of Nebraska Street (203 
Nebraska) and only one on the south side of Nebraska Street (218 Nebraska).  All other homes consist of 
wood, vinyl or shake siding. The house at 221 Nebraska is stucco, which has not historically been 
considered a masonry finish.   

 
3. Accessory Building Rear Yard Setback 

 
a) The proposed accessory building (detached garage) would be located in approximately the same place as 

the former detached garage, although it would be moved closer to the public alley.  Detached garages 
must be set back at least 10’ from side and rear property lines.  Per the Existing Conditions, Removal and 
Erosion Control Plan, the former garage was set back 6.2’ from the north (rear) property line and 19’ from 
the east (side) property line.  As such, the former garage was considered existing, non-conforming 
regarding the rear yard setback.  
  

b) The proposed garage would be set back 5’ 7” from the north (rear) property line and 10’ 3” from the east 
(side) property line, requiring a variation for the setback from the rear property line.   
 

c) The proposed garage would measure 36’ long by 18’ wide, or 648 square feet. 
 

d) Many homes within the downtown area and along this section of Nebraska Street have detached, rear 
yard garages.  

 
4. Rear Yard Coverage 

 
a) The maximum rear yard lot coverage in the R-2 zone district is 30%.  The required rear yard measures 30’ 

deep by 67.50’ wide, for a total area of 2,025 square feet.  As such, no more than 608 square feet of 
roofed structures are permitted within the required rear yard.  Structures with roofs count toward rear lot 
coverage.  
 

b) The proposed detached garage would be situated entirely within the rear yard, measuring 18’ wide by 36’ 
long, for a total of 648 square feet.  This area exceeds the 608 square foot rear yard coverage and would 
require a variation.  
 

5. Lot Coverage 
 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance permits a maximum lot coverage of 20% for a two-story home 
within the R-2 zoning district resulting in a maximum permitted coverage of 1,337.4 square feet for the 
subject property.  Structures with roofs count toward lot coverage.   
 

b) The former home and garage amounted to approximately 1,381 square feet for a 20.7% lot coverage and 
was considered existing, non-conforming.  
 

c) The proposed home and detached garage equate to a lot coverage of 2,194 square feet (32.8%), in excess 
of ordinance requirements and will require a variation.  

 
6. Impervious Lot Coverage 

 
d) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance permits a maximum impervious lot coverage of 40% for homes 

within the R-2 zoning district resulting in a permitted coverage of 2,674.8 square feet for the subject 
property.  Impervious lot coverage includes area for the house, covered porch, detached garage, 
driveway, on-site sidewalks and rear yard patio.  
 

e) The proposed home and detached garage equate to an impervious lot coverage of 2,804 square feet 
(41.9%), in excess of ordinance requirements and will require a variation.  

 

4



7. Accessory Structure Height (Detached Garage) 
 

f) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance allows for accessory structures, including detached garages, to 
be a maximum of 15’ tall, measured to the peak of the roof.  The former detached garage was less than 
15’ tall; the exact height is unknown.    
 

g) The proposed detached garage would measure 20’ 5 ½” tall to the peak of the roof.  The increase in 
height would be for aesthetic reasons only and not to provide habitable space or an accessory dwelling 
unit.   

 
2019 Comprehensive Plan:  

213 Nebraska is located within the Downtown area, as illustrated in the Residential Design Guidelines in the 2019 
Comprehensive Plan.  Although the guidelines are not enforceable, they can be used to judge the merits of 
proposed residential projects in the downtown area.  Staff has offered some opinions as to whether the proposed 
house renovations meet the intent of the Residential Design Guidelines, acknowledging that they can be subjective 
in nature.  
 
Elements that appear to comply with the Downtown Residential Design Guidelines:  
 

1. The house would be served by a detached garage in the rear of the property (page B-2). 
2. The detached garage utilizes the adjacent public alley (page B-13).  
3. The house employs high-quality wood composite materials (page B-2).  
4. The house is an historically relevant architectural style (Victorian Cottage) that includes multi-pane 

windows, columns and railings (page B-2).  
5. The building’s architecture delineates the primary entrance.  Entryway features including covered porches 

are desirable (page B-4).  
6. The building incorporates interesting architectural details including a masonry chimney, shake siding in 

the roof gables, an oculus window in the front gable, a black iron railing on the front of the family room 
on the front façade, etc. (page B-4).   

7. The house employs similar architectural elements and detailing on all sides of the home (page B-5).  
 
Elements that don’t appear to comply with the Downtown Residential Design Guidelines:  
 

1. Houses should be sized appropriately for their lots and in relation to neighboring homes (page B-2).  The 
proposed house would require a lot coverage variation to allow 32.8% instead of 20%.   

2. The new construction may not respect the established front yard setbacks within the area (page B-18).  
 
Dwelling Size:  

1. The Village ordinance requires that two-story homes within the R-2 zone district provide a minimum 
square footage of 2,600 square feet of floor area (1st and 2nd floor areas).  The former house was 1,310 
square feet in livable area (not including the basement) and was considered existing, non-conforming.  
The proposed house would be 2,511 square feet, which is still less than the required 2,600 square feet, 
requiring a variation.  

 
Existing Trees: 

 
1. The applicant has submitted a tree survey of the property, illustrating that 3 trees would be preserved on 

the site.  Two Norway Spruce trees at the front of the former house were removed during demolition of 
the house.  None of the trees are classified as “preservation trees” in the Landscape Ordinance and 
therefore do not require mitigation.     

 
 
 
 

5



Past Variation Approvals in the Downtown Area: 

For reference, the following addresses in the downtown have received variations for building additions or site 
improvements:  
 
215 Kansas (Gallagher) (PC review 8.14.08) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 4,950 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 38.3% (20% max permitted) 
2. First floor building materials for accessory structure (masonry required) 
3. Detached garage side yard setback: 0’ (10’ required) 

 
147 White Street (Lalley) (PC review 7.8.10) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 21,484 
Lot Width: 100’ min 130’  
Lot Depth: 150’ min 165’   

 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Detached garage setback 6.5’ from side property line (10’ required) 
 
44 W. Bowen Street (Carroll/Watson) (PC review 8.12.10) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 16,175 
Lot Width: 100’ min 100’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 160’ (approximately) 

 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Accessory structure (shed) 0’ setback from rear property line (10’ required) 
 
210 Walnut (Winters) (PC review 3.10.11) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 11,044 
Lot Width: 100’ min 90’ (approximate) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 130’ (approximate) 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 19’ (30’ required) 
2. Building height: 36’ (35’ max permitted) 

6



3. Lot Coverage: 29% (20% max permitted) 
4. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
5. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
6. Accessory structure setback: 2’ to both north and west property lines (10’ required)  

 
200 W. Nebraska (Leonard) (PC review 11.8.12) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 7,000 
Lot Width: 100’ min 70’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 34% (20% max permitted) 
2. Driveway setback: 0’ (5’ required) 
3. Detached garage setback: 0’ from south lot line, 4.1’ from west lot line (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage height: 21’ 4” (15’ max permitted) 

 
23 W. Bowen Street (Gander) (PC review 8.22.13) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 8,720 
Lot Width: 100’ min 52’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 172’ (approximately) 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Side yard setback: 6.4’ (10’ required) 
2. Lot Coverage: 26% (20% max permitted) 
3. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
5. Accessory structure setback from side property line: 5’ (10’ required) 

 
140 Maple (Triezenberg) (PC review 9.8.16) 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,250 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 130’ (approximately) 

 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback 0’ (5’ required) 
 
140 Walnut (McLean) (PC review 1.25.18) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,275 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 125.5’ 

7



 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 15.67’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (10’ required) 
3. Lot coverage: 33.5% (20% max permitted) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
213 Kansas (Kirsch) (PC review 1.24.19) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,183 
Lot Width: 100’ min 61.83' 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 13.4' (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setbacks: of 10' and 10' (at least 25’ total both sides required) 
3. Rear yard setback: 15.1' (30’ required) 
4. Lot coverage: 30% (20% max permitted) 
5. Driveway setback: 0.5' (5’ required) 
6. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
143 Kansas Street (Brown) (PC review 3.25.21) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 5,000 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’  
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 10’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (13’ required)  
3. Detached garage setback from rear property line: 0.5’ (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage setback from side property line: 2’ (10 required) 
5. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
6. Lot coverage: 41% (20% max permitted) 
7. Impervious lot coverage: 46% (40% max permitted) 
8. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
240 Center Road (Oltman) (PC review 9.22.22) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 38,350 
Lot Width: 100’ min 100’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 370.4’ 

 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback from side property line: 1’ (4’ required) 

8



2. Driveway turning radius: 25’ (26’ required) 
3. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit a front yard setback of 12 5 ¾” 
instead of 30’, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans 
and public testimony.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit non-masonry siding on the 
entire 1st floor of the building, instead of masonry, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
3. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit a 5’ 7” rear yard setback for 

an accessory structure instead of 10’, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit a rear yard lot coverage of 

32%, instead of 30%, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit a lot coverage of 32.8%, 

instead of 20%, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans and public testimony.    

 
6. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit an impervious lot coverage of 

41.9%, instead of 40%, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
7. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit a 20’ 5 ½” tall accessory 

structure (detached garage), instead of 15’, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
8. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to permit an undersized dwelling unit of 

2,511 square feet, instead of 2,600 square feet, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    
 

 
 

9



S M
AP

LE
 S

T

W NEBRASKA ST WA
LN

UT
 S

T

KANSAS ST

KANSAS ST

N 
MA

PL
E S

T

0 150 30075
Feet

µ
213 Nebraska Street - Plantz Renovation

10



11



Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  

1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under
the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.

For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  

1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property
involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;

12



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

13



5 
 

Motion (#7): Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Personal 
Services for a salon located at 21195 S. La Grange Road, Units 1B and 1C, in accordance 
with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 
Motion by: Schaeffer  Seconded by: Jakubowski 
 
Approved: (6-0) 
 

D. Workshop: 213 Nebraska Street – Plantz Residence 

Chris Gruba gave the staff report.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to step forward. 

Gabriel Garcia approached the stand, the architect for the applicant. He asked if he should 
point out some of the changes proposed. 

Chair Rigoni said he should. 

The architect pointed out that the garage was small, only 1.5 cars wide. The regulations 
for the height of accessory structures was limiting, particularly for the slope of the roof of 
the garage. The applicant wanted the pitch of the garage to match the pitch of the home. 
It was historically appropriate to have a higher roof pitch, since in the past garages stored 
carriages. He stated that he brought color renderings to show how the originally proposed 
garage matched the proposed changes to the house. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the request for a higher roof pitch on the garage was for 
architectural reasons or functional reasons. 

The architect responded that the request was an architectural consideration. In regard to 
impervious lot coverage, one of the changes made to comply with code was a reduced 
patio area, and the removal of sidewalks which led from the garage to the back door of 
the home. With the changes, the proposed patio was now very small, only eight feet by 
eight feet. This was done so that the home was at least ten feet away from the garage. 

Chair Rigoni asked staff for clarification on that regulation. 

Staff responded that patios are defined as accessory structures, and that accessory 
structures needed to be at leas ten feet away from the main structure. 

Staff responded that the patio counted as part of the main structure, and that accessory 
structures needed to be at least ten feet away from the main structure.  

Chair Rigoni asked what the patio was going to be made of.  

14

cgruba
Highlight



6 
 

The architect responded that they would be using pavers.  

Chair Rigoni noted that she thought the ten-foot separation requirement related only to 
bulk, not paved surfaces, and was designed for fire safety reasons.  

Staff noted that patios must be set back at least 10’ from property lines and from other 
accessory structures, but that the text could be amended again if needed. 

The architect stated that the patio was more landscaping than anything else. There was no 
sidewalk from the garage to the back door, either, and was removed to meet the 
impervious coverage regulation. He understood that the applicant was asking for a lot of 
variances, but there was not much yard on the site to begin with.  

Chair Rigoni opened up the discussion to the other six variances the applicant originally 
requested in addition to the five presented. She cautioned other members of the Plan 
Commission to be limited in their comments since they did not have the same amount of 
information for the additional six as for the original five.  

Commissioner Markunas asked staff to explain which aspects of the existing house were 
nonconforming.  

Staff responded that the front yard setback was existing nonconforming, but the 
nonconformity was being increased. The non-masonry materials and accessory structure 
setbacks were nonconforming as well, but required variations. 

The architect noted that the design altered the location and dimensions of the garage’s 
footprint to avoid flooding.  

Chair Rigoni asked what the maximum rear yard coverage calculation was.  

Staff responded that they calculated 37%, whereas 30% was allowed. 

The architect noted that another linear foot, or 18 square feet, was added to the garage.  

Staff remarked that the variation for accessory structures was increasing in intensity then.  

Chair Rigoni summarized that front yard setbacks and lot coverage were increasing in 
intensity. She asked if any of the members of the Plan Commission had any comments 
about the masonry requirement. 

There were none. 

Chair Rigoni turned the discussion to the accessory building setback. She asked the 
applicant what was to the north of the garage.  

Staff responded that another garage was to the north. 

15



7 
 

Chair Rigoni asked if the other members of the Plan Commission had any comments.  

There were none.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant why they did not shorten the garage’s length. 

The architect responded that they wanted to allow tandem parking in lieu of side-by-side 
parking. 

Commissioner Hogan noted that the garage on the other side of the alley was larger than 
the one proposed by the applicant.  

The architect reiterated that they were only adding 18 square feet to the garage. 

Chair Rigoni remarked that no portion of the proposed house would be located within the 
required rear yard.  

Commissioner Markunas noted there was no real visual encroachment either. 

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed that it would not impact the existing yard.  

Commissioner Markunas said that it was a difficult piece of property to work on.  

Chair Rigoni stated that meeting the square footage required by the code was hard due to 
the dimensions of the lot. The code set a maximum at 20%, and 33.2% was proposed.  

Commissioner Markunas asked what the existing lot coverage was. 

Staff responded that the existing lot coverage was 23.2%. 

Chair Rigoni asked whether if the property were on a standard 15,000 square foot lot, it 
would meet the 20% requirement.  

Staff responded it would.  

Commissioner Markunas calculated the lot coverage for the property as if it were on a 
15,000 square foot lot.  

Chair Rigoni asked for any other comments while Commissioner Markunas completed 
the calculations.  

Commissioner James noted that past variations that were granted nearby had higher lot 
coverage rates that 33%.  

Commissioner Markunas stated that lot coverage on a typical R2 lot would be 10%.  

16



8 
 

Discussion continued comparing the existing site to the R2 regulations. The proposed 
home was 2,602 square feet whereas the minimum house size is 2,600 square feet, now 
complying with the Ordinance. 

Commissioner Markunas stated he understood the reason behind requesting so many 
variances, given the dimensions of the lot. The proposed changes seemed appropriate for 
the site and would have been appropriate for a typical R2 property.  

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that she agreed with the proposed changes from both a 
qualitative and quantitative standpoint.  

Commissioner James stated he saw no issue with the proposed lot coverage. 

Commissioner Hogan asked if the applicant had shared their plans with the neighbors yet. 

The architect replied that they had not.  

Chair Rigoni asked for any other comments on lot coverage. 

There were none. 

Chair Rigoni asked for comments about the front yard setback. 

The architect noted that the proposed porch was adding to the existing porch. In his 
experience the Village liked seeing porches added to homes. 

Chair Rigoni stated she saw this project as essentially a brand-new house, which made it 
hard to justify the addition of such a large porch. The applicants would then be the closest 
to the front lot line along the whole block. The new façade was not similar to the existing 
one. Losing two trees to install it was also a hard sell.  

The applicant stated that the porch created a more inviting feel for the home. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the porch was something he liked. It tied the look of 
the home in with others along the street.  

The architect stated that there was limited space in front of the home.  

Commissioner Schaeffer recalled a case heard by the Plan Commission earlier in the year 
somewhere along Oregon Street. They had also added a porch to their home. The Plan 
Commission approved the addition of that home because of the positive aesthetic 
changes. She also noted that some subdivisions in the Village varied the distances of 
homes from the front lot lines, and wondered how bad that might look in this context.  

The applicant asked if the existing home could be shown on the screen.  

Staff pulled up Google Street View of the home.  

17



9 
 

Commissioner Hogan asked if the porch would replace the landscaping in front of the 
house currently, and not come closer forward than the existing brick wall which 
surrounded the front stairs. 

Staff said that was correct. 

Chair Rigoni suggested that her issue with the porch then was with the volume. The 
proposal included a full-width porch, where the existing home only had a partial-width 
porch. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant intended to add any trees to replace the 
two that would be removed.  

The applicant stated that there was an intention to landscape the property, but no formal 
plans existed yet. Looking at the existing porch on Street View, the addition would not 
come any closer to the front lot line than the existing brick wall did. The expansion 
would not look as large in reality as the drawing suggested.  

Chair Rigoni stated that the fact that the proposed porch was covered added to the 
bulkiness. In her opinion, the existing uncovered porch looked fine. 

The applicant noted that they tried to match the design of the house immediately to their 
east.  

Staff noted that the property being emulated was 211 W. Nebraska. 

Commissioner James remarked that the proposed addition would be ten feet closer to the 
front lot line than 211 W. Nebraska. 

Commissioner Schaeffer stated that the depth of the porch at the subject property was 7 
feet, 4 inches. The covered porch at 211 W. Nebraska is set back further from the 
property line, but did not feel massive. 

Chair Rigoni stated that the use of brick added to the feeling of massiveness. 

The architect noted that the design of the addition treated the property as a corner lot, and 
so wrapped the porch around the side in order to increase curb appeal.  

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that the proposal was an improvement to the site. She 
expressed a desire to focus more on the property in question rather than discuss the 
neighboring property. She said that the project overall would enhance the neighborhood. 

Commissioner James agreed, saying that the home would look good to anyone passing 
by. 

18



10 
 

Staff suggested that if the Plan Commission made a favorable recommendation to the 
Village Board, it could add a condition that prevented the porch from being enclosed in 
the future.  

Chair Rigoni stated that if they specified that the porch was covered, which did not move 
the front façade closer to the front lot line, that could achieve a similar result. 

Commissioner Hogan agreed, and said that the covered porch looked great. That aesthetic 
effect would be lost if the porch were ever enclosed. 

Chair Rigoni stated she may be in the minority, but believed that the extent of the 
changes transformed the property into functionally a new house. The proposed project 
was a complete deviation from the surrounding neighborhood. 

The applicant noted that the structure was only 21 feet wide. 

Chair Rigoni responded that there was also a large addition being proposed.  

Commissioner Markunas liked the fact that the home deviated from the neighborhood, 
though he did not want to be rude to members of the Plan Commission who disagreed 
with him. He expressed having an issue with the front setback, but noted that the design 
of the house generally worked because the property acts like a corner lot, since it’s 
adjacent to an alley.  

Chair Rigoni agreed about the corner lot considerations. She stated she was trying to 
strike a balance herself. She wanted to be comfortable in her understanding of what 
existed now before deciding on the addition. It was obvious to those present what parts of 
the home would be from the addition and what would be original, but that may not be the 
case in the future, and she wanted to avoid setting the wrong precedent. She asked if there 
were any other comments on the height of the detached garage or the impervious lot 
coverage. 

Commissioner Markunas asked what height the applicant was seeking for the detached 
garage. 

Staff responded that they were looking for a 20’ 6” height.  

Commissioner James asked how that height compared to the large garage across the 
alley.  

The architect responded that their request was for a greater height, but the garage across 
the alley was wider.  

Commissioner Markunas asked what the pitch on the home would be. 

The architect responded that it would be 12/12. 

19



11 
 

Commissioner Markunas responded that the originally proposed garage would match the 
proposed additions to the home.  

The applicant asked if staff had included a photograph of the flooding garage in their 
report. 

Staff had not.  

Laura Plantz, one of the applicants, approached the Plan Commission to share a photo of 
the flooded parts of the garage.  

Chair Rigoni stated that if the Plan Commission were to approve the height variation for 
the accessory structure, they would need to be clear that the change was for architectural 
reasons only and was not, for example, an accessory dwelling.  

Mike Schwarz noted that zoning regulations in other municipalities measured the height 
of a structure to the midpoint of the roof, so as to give architects flexibility when 
designing the pitch of the roof. He was aware that the definition was just changed, but 
wanted the Plan Commission to be aware of the other method. 

Commissioner Markunas remarked it might be a good change to make. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to clarify the reason for a lot coverage variation request.  

The applicant stated it would be to increase the size of the patio and to add a sidewalk 
leading from the garage to the home.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the applicant was currently 30 square feet under the allowed 
impervious coverage maximum with the presented changes. 

The architect stated he was aware, but wanted to go with the original addition plans if 
possible.  

Commissioner Markunas confirmed that the patio in the rear of the home would be a 
patio, and not a deck. He also asked what materials would be used for the patio. 

The applicant responded that they would use pavers.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked what color the pavers would be. 

The applicant responded that they did not know. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked whether the pavers would be uniform. 

The architect responded that they would use uniform blue stone pavers.  

20



12 
 

Commissioner Markunas stated that pavers were an easier thing to approve for him, 
especially for a walkway. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked what the proposed walkway would look like and where it 
would go. 

The architect responded that the walkway would run alongside the garage and lead to the 
home, allowing someone to park near the garage door and exit more conveniently from 
the garage door, and walk to the home. 

Chair Rigoni asked what the impervious lot coverage calculation would be then.  

The architect responded that it would be 43%. 

Chair Rigoni recalled that the only time the Plan Commission approved something 
similar was for a property on a 5,000 square foot lot, though she was trying to recall a 
more similar case.  

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that there was a similar case for a proposed home on 49 
N. White Street. In that case, there was barely any grass anyway. 

The applicant stated that all of the property’s green space was on the west side. 

Commissioner Hogan noted that a nearby home seen on the aerial photographs used 
stepping stones as a path from the detached garage to the home. He asked whether that 
was considered landscaping.  

Chair Rigoni asked how the patio would be increased. 

The architect responded saying the proposed patio was 8’ by 8’, which was small. 12’ by 
12’ is typically needed to allow for dining on the patio. 

Chair Rigoni asked what the setback was for the patio. 

Staff stated it was ten feet. 

The architect agreed with a previous comment, stating that a larger patio would not be a 
fire nor a structural concern.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the variation request for the impervious lot coverage would be 
43%. 

The architect responded that they would need to calculate it to be sure. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the number would be around 43%.  

The architect said it would be.  

21



13 
 

Chair Rigoni said that there was a possibility the Plan Commission would hear that 
request, depending on the materials that were used.  

The applicant responded saying they could bring a sample for next time. 

Chair Rigoni said that if the home had an attached garage, she would be less amenable to 
granting so many variations. She confirmed with the applicant that the only trees to be 
removed were the two marked at the front of the house. She stated that the applicant 
should work with staff to try and make the next meeting a public hearing. So long as the 
calculations did not result in something unreasonably different than what was discussed, 
the next meeting could be a public hearing.  

For future reference, staff asked the Plan Commission whether they should work with 
applicants to try to minimize the number of variances requested prior to a workshop or 
whether the plans should come before the Commission as originally submitted, for the 
Commission to then decide which variances were excessive. Staff recalled the Plan 
Commission’s hesitation to some of the variances requested at 143 Kansas, in which the 
applicant requested 8 variations.  

Chair Rigoni said that staff should continue to do work with the property owner to reduce 
the number of variations requested, but that each property had to be considered 
differently.  

Mr. Garcia noted to the Commission that Mr. Gruba was good to work with. 
 

E. Workshop: 25 Carpenter Street – Kerley Residence 

Drew Duffin gave the staff report. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the current home was not constructed of masonry. 

Staff responded it was not. 

Commissioner Markunas stated he had no issues with the building materials.  

Chair Rigoni asked what the front yard setback was for the house to the north. 

Staff responded they were unsure. 

Chair Rigoni asked that that information be provided at the next meeting. She then asked 
if the north side yard setback was going to be maintained. 

Staff responded it was. 

Chair Rigoni shifted discussion to the lot coverage on the site. She asked if the lot 
coverage calculations for the existing site included the detached garage.  

22



Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-0)  

C. Public Hearing: 213 Nebraska Street – Plantz Residence  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report. 

The applicant, Gabriel Garcia, approached the stand. He stated he was available to answer 
any questions the Plan Commission had. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked what the two new variation requests were. 

Staff responded that they were to increase the maximum height of the garage and to 
increase the maximum allowable impervious lot coverage.  

Chair Rigoni clarified that the increase in the maximum allowable impervious lot coverage 
was to accommodate a larger patio area as well as a sidewalk. 

Commissioner James added that the sidewalk would lead from the garage to the home.  

Chair Rigoni asked what the existing impervious lot coverage was for the site. 

The applicant responded that they did not have that information on hand.  

Chair Rigoni noted that knowing that information would be helpful in evaluating the 
request for an increase in the maximum impervious lot coverage. She then asked if there 
were any comments from the public. 

There were none. 

Motion (#6): To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-0) 

Chair Rigoni summarized the requests before the Plan Commission.  

Commissioner Schaeffer stated her largest concern was with the impervious lot coverage. 
The backyard of the property was relatively small. She stated that the site plan showed a 
wood deck on the rear of the building. She asked if wood was considered an impervious 
surface. 

Staff responded that it was. 

PC meeting minutes October 27, 2022

23

cgruba
Highlight



Commissioner Schaeffer noted that the applicant was looking to reorient the shape of the 
impervious area, but that it would be helpful to have a number for the existing impervious 
lot coverage for comparison. She also stated that the home was built on a small lot, and 
that the owners would be losing some grass in order to expand the home. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the existing detached garage would be expanded or kept 
the same size. 

The applicant explained that the garage would be 1.5 feet deeper. In addition, the garage 
would be moved closer to the alleyway on the east side of the property. The civil engineer 
had suggested moving the garage to help alleviate the flooding issue the current garage 
had. The extra area in the garage would allow it to either store two cars in tandem, or for 
extra storage space.  

Commissioner Knieriem agreed that there were flooding issues in that area. He asked if 
there was a nearby storm sewer. 

The applicant explained that the civil engineer for the project added a drain to the site to 
help move rainwater off-site and into the storm sewer system.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked who would install the drain. 

The applicant responded that the drain was designed by DesignTek, and that he had just 
received the plans for it that day.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked whether the system was private or whether it connected to 
the Village’s storm water system.  

The applicant responded that it was a private system. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked the applicant where the storm drain would go. 

The applicant stated he was unsure, since he had just received the plans that day. 

Commissioner Schaeffer said she would like to be sure that the proposed storm drain would 
ultimately tie in to the larger storm sewer system. 

The applicant, after reviewing the plans he had brought with him, indicated that the 
proposed storm drain would lead to Nebraska Street. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that there was a direct relationship between increasing the 
impervious lot coverage on the site and an increase in flooding issues. More impervious 
surfaces left smaller areas to absorb rainwater. He said he would like to see how the storm 
drain would be built and wanted to see the gutters on the house and drain tiles direct water 
toward the proposed drain. 

24



The applicant stated he would speak with the engineer on how to implement that idea. 

Chair Rigoni suggested that the storm drain aspects of the proposal be added to one of the 
requests as a condition, since storm water management was outside the purview of the Plan 
Commission.  

Commissioner Knieriem stated he would prefer that.  

The applicant added that the existing alley was also an impervious surface which led to 
large amounts of runoff.  

Chair Rigoni suggested that there may be a nexus between the Plan Commission’s concerns 
with the impervious lot coverage request and the proposed storm drain.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the front yard setback was measured from the front 
property line to the house. 

The applicant responded that it was. 

Commissioner Knieriem noted that the request for a 12’ 7” front yard setback would make 
the home the closest building to the street in that area. 

The applicant suggested that there may be another home closer to the street along Nebraska 
Street. 

Commissioner Knieriem noted that based on the setback comparison provided by staff, the 
proposed setback would indeed make the subject property the closest to the street. He asked 
the applicant if it was possible to reduce the depth of the proposed front porch. 

The applicant said that the porch could be narrowed by around a foot before it was no 
longer usable. The proposed porch was 7’ 4” deep, and any porch shallower than 6’ 4” 
would be functionally ornamental. In his experience, many communities liked to see front 
porches added to homes, and would allow some porches to encroach up to ten feet into the 
setback. Porches commonly gave a neighborhood a friendlier appearance, and in some 
cases felt more urban as well. The existing setbacks along Nebraska Street were fairly far 
back from the road, which did not really align with the near-downtown feel found on other 
streets.  

Chair Rigoni said she agreed with Commissioner Knieriem. She considers the proposal 
more like a completely new house, rather than an addition, based on how much was being 
changed. If the proposal was truly new construction, she would not want that building to 
be the closest one to the street. Her largest concern was with the setback for the front porch. 
She also noted that Nebraska Street was a major street in the Village and she considered it 
a boulevard leading into the heart of Frankfort. Those kinds of streets typically had larger 
setbacks.  

25



Commissioner James agreed with the other comments made. He understood that a 7-foot 
deep porch was not excessively large for a porch. While the proposed porch was close to 
the front property line, it was open, and it was different from having the front door so close 
to the front property line. However, he was concerned with setting the precedent of 
reducing the setback by so much. 

The applicant responded, saying that there was an existing uncovered porch currently. The 
mass of the building was not changing, rather it was being filled out. The addition of the 
front porch was intended to add to the original style of the home. Other homes of the same 
style commonly had front porches.  

Commissioner Schaeffer stated she was unsure how she felt about the front yard setback 
request. The Plan Commission did recently consider another home in the downtown area 
with a similar request for a shorter setback to build a larger porch. She noted that in that 
case, though, the setback then matched the neighbors and did not go further than them. In 
her opinion, that was not the case with the subject property. The agreed that the proposal 
was an overall improvement to the home, but that the setback was still a concern for her. 
She asked if there was any way to shorten the whole design of the home, understanding 
that it would impact more than just the design of the proposed porch. 

The applicant responded that if the porch were narrowed at all, it would not be usable.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the applicant could reduce the size of the addition, but 
then noted that the existing home was not extending forward, only the porch.  

Chair Rigoni asked the other members of the Plan Commission if they had any comments 
on the proposed materials. 

There were none. 

Chair Rigoni asked staff if the setback of the detached garage from the home was existing 
or proposed. 

Staff clarified that it was the existing setback. 

Chair Rigoni asked the other members of the Plan Commission had any comments on the 
rear yard coverage.  

The applicant explained that they were reducing the rear yard coverage from 37% to 32%.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked how they were reducing coverage. 

Commissioner James noted that it appeared on the proposed plans, the rear deck would be 
smaller.  

The applicant confirmed that was the case. 

26



Commissioner Schaeffer said that the Plan Commission had talked about that at a previous 
meeting, and she believed it was not much of a concern.  

Chair Rigoni agreed with Commissioner Schaeffer. She asked whether the request for 
impervious lot coverage was singled out by staff because it was a new request.  

Staff said that was correct. The request was added because the applicant wanted to install 
a sidewalk leading from the garage to the home and to expand the patio, and the Plan 
Commission seemed receptive to the added request at the last workshop meeting.  

Commissioner Knieriem said he was alright with the request because of the proposed 
drainage management improvements. He asked if the whole property would be served by 
the proposed system.  

The applicant said it would be, and that plans should have been submitted to staff.  

Staff indicated that they did receive a Grading Plan, but it was not included in the Plan 
Commission’s packet because there was some discrepancy between it and the rest of the 
submitted plans.  

The applicant stated he was also aware of the discrepancy and that plans were being redone 
to address it.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the other members of the Plan Commission wished to add the 
proposed storm water management improvements as a condition to the request for 
impervious lot coverage.  

Commissioner Knieriem indicated he did.  

Chair Rigoni asked for comments on the request to increase the maximum allowable height 
of the garage. It was her understanding that the Plan Commission was comfortable with 
the request because it would allow the garage to match the roof pitch of the home. She 
suggested that for consistency’s sake, a condition be added to that motion stating the 
additional space created by changing the pitch could not be used as a dwelling unit. 

The applicant noted that typically garage variations were requested for larger two-car 
garages, rather than the current one-car garage.  

Chair Rigoni agreed, but wanted to be clear that the extra space would be allowed for 
architectural reasons only.  

The applicant noted that there were some homes with setbacks shorter than twelve feet 
from the front property line.  

Commissioner Knieriem agreed, but added that Ash Street was also a dead-end street, 
rather than a thoroughfare like Nebraska Street.  

27



The applicant suggested that there was also precedent for variations regarding impervious 
coverage in the downtown area.  

Chair Rigoni agreed. She noted that there was a member of the audience looking to give 
comments. 

Motion (#7): To reopen the public hearing.  

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Logan Plantz, a relative of the property owner, approached the stand. He acknowledged 
that the lot was small, but that it was one of the only homes available in Frankfort when 
his family looked to move to the Village. His family wanted to settle down in this home 
for the long term. They wanted to help improve Frankfort, and he hoped that the Plan 
Commission would take that into consideration.  

Motion (#8): To close the public hearing.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: Knieriem 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Motion (#9): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to reduce the 
required front yard setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 12’ 7”, on the property 
located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public 
testimony. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Motion failed: (3-1; Chair Rigoni voted against.) 

Motion (#10): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request for 1st floor 
building materials to allow non-masonry siding on the property located at 213 Nebraska 
Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#11): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to reduce the 
required rear yard setback for an accessory building from 10’ to 5’ 7”, on the property 
located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public 
testimony.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: James 

28



Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#12): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the 
maximum allowed rear yard coverage to allow 32% instead of 30%, on the property located 
at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: Knieriem 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#13): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the 
maximum lot coverage to allow 32.8% instead of 20%, on the property located at 213 
Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.  

Motion by: James    Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#14): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the 
maximum impervious lot coverage to allow 41.9% instead of 40%, on the property located 
at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony, on the 
condition that the proposed stormwater improvements be connected to the Village’s 
stormwater system, and that the gutters and drain tiles drain toward the proposed drain. 

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#15): Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the 
maximum height for an accessory building (detached garage) from 15’ to 20’ - 5 ½”, on 
the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans and 
public testimony.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#16): Recommend the Village Board approve the Preliminary & Final Plat of 
Subdivision for the Plantz Resubdivision, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public 
testimony, subject to any technical revisions prior to recording and conditioned on final 
engineering approval.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (4-0) 

D. Public Hearing: 9500 W. Lincoln Highway – Tiny Tots Play Café 

29



Village Board 
November 7, 2022 
Page2 

Clerk Schubert called the roll. Ayes: Trustees Borrelli, Farina, Petrow, Rossi, and Savaria. Nays: 
None. Absent: Trustee Leddin. The motion carried. 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT SUMMARY 

Plantz Residence Multiple Variances: 213 W. Nebraska Street - Ordinance 
(Waive !81 and 2nd Readings) 

1. Front Yard Setback Variance 
2. First Floor Building Materials Variance 
3. Rear Yard Setback Variance for an Accessory Building 
4. Rear Yard Coverage Variance 
5. Lot Coverage Variance 
6. Impervious Lot Coverage Variance 
7. Accessory Building Height Variance 
8. Plantz Resubdivision- Preliminary and Final Plat Approval 

Mayor Ogle stated the Plan Commission forwarded a 3-1 vote pertaining to the front yard setback 
variance request, noting favorable recommendations require four affirmative votes. He stated this 
item will be considered separately and requires a two-thirds affirmative vote of the trustees to 
overrule a negative recommendation of the Plan Commission. 

Trustee Rossi provided a brief overview of the project. He reported homeowner Ron Plantz 
proposes to construct an addition and demolish/rebuild the detached garage on his residential 
property located at 213 W. Nebraska Street. To accommodate the proposed improvements, Mr. 
Plantz requests the granting of the following variances: 

• Front yard setback variance from 30' to 12' 7" 
• First-floor building materials variance from the masonry requirement to allow non-

masonry siding 
• Rear yard setback variance from 10' to 5' 7" for an accessory building 
• Rear yard coverage variance from 30% to 32% 
• Lot coverage variance from 20% to 32.8% 
• Impervious lot coverage variance from 40% to 41.9% 
• Accessory building height variance from 15' to 20' 5½" 

The applicant also seeks approval of the preliminary and final plat of the Plantz Resubdivision to 
combine two underlying lots. 

At the October 27, 2022 Public Hearing on the project, the Plan Commission forwarded a split (3-
1) vote for the front yard setback variance request, six unanimous ( 4-0) recommendations to the 
Village Board to grant the other related variations, and a unanimous ( 4-0) recommendation to 
approve the plat of resubdivision. 

30

cgruba
Highlight



Village Board 
November 7, 2022 
Page 3 

Trustee Rossi made a motion, seconded by Trustee Savaria, to accept the Plan Commission 
recommendation, waive the First and Second Readings, and pass AN ORDINANCE (NO. 3380) 
GRANTING A ZONING VARIANCE FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED WITHIN THE 
VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, WILL AND COOK, COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (PLANTZ 
RESIDENCE- 213 W. NEBRASKA STREET), granting a front yard setback from 30 feet to 12 
feet 7 inches to permit the construction of an addition to the single-family residence and 
demolish/rebuild the detached garage, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony. 

Mayor Ogle invited trustee comment on the matter prior to a vote being taken. 

The corporate authorities commented on the proposed renovation of the existing home and the 
project complementing the historic character and design preferences outlined in the Downtown 
Frankfort Residential Design Guidelines, voicing their support of the project. 

Clerk Schubert called the roll. Ayes: Trustees Borrelli, Farina, Petrow, Rossi, and Savaria. Nays: 
None. Absent: Trustee Leddin. The motion carried. 

Trustee Rossi made a motion, seconded by Trustee Savaria, to accept the Plan Commission 
recommendations, waive the First and Second Readings, and pass AN ORDINANCE (NO. 3381) 
GRANTING MULTIPLE ZONING VARIANCES FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED 
WITHIN THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, WILL AND COOK, COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 
(PLANTZ RESIDENCE - 213 W. NEBRASKA STREET), granting the following zoning 
variances: a first floor building materials variance to allow non-masonry siding; a rear yard setback 
variance from 10 feet to 5 feet 7 inches for an accessory building; a rear yard coverage variance 
from 30 percent to 32 percent; a lot coverage variance from 20 percent to 32.8 percent; an 
impervious lot coverage variance from 40 percent to 41.9 percent; and an accessory building 
(garage) height variance from 15 feet to 20 feet 5 ½ inches, to pennit the construction of an addition 
to the single-family residence and demolish/rebuild the detached garage, all in accordance with 
the reviewed plans and public testimony. 

Mayor Ogle invited trustee comment on the matter prior to a vote being taken. 

Trustee Farina asked staff if the storm water drainage issues discussed by the Plan Commission 
have been addressed. Director of Community and Economic Development Michael Schwarz stated 
the matter will be reviewed as part of the building permit process. 

Clerk Schubert called the roll. Ayes: Trustees Borrelli, Farina, Petrow, Rossi, and Savaria. Nays: 
None. Absent: Trustee Leddin. The motion carried. 

Trustee Rossi made a motion, seconded by Trustee Farina, to accept the Plan Commission 
recommendation and approve the preliminary and final plat of the Plantz Resubdivision, prepared 
by DesignTek Engineering, Inc., dated 08.10.2022, in accordance with the reviewed plans and 
subject to any technical revisions prior to recording and conditioned upon final engineering 
approval. 

31



Village Board 
November 7, 2022 
Page4 

Mayor Ogle invited trustee comment on the matter prior to a vote being taken. None were 
forthcoming. 

Clerk Schubert called the roll: Ayes: Trustees Borrelli, Farina, Petrow, Rossi, and Savaria. Nays: 
None. Absent: Trustee Leddin. The motion carried. 

MAYOR'S REPORT 

• Mayor Ogle entertained a motion from the floor to adopt an amendment to the Liquor 
Ordinance authorizing a reduction in the number of Class F-2 liquor licenses (grocery store) 
from three to two to reflect the closing of Butera Fruit Market. 

Trustee Farina made a motion, seconded by Trustee Petrow, to waive the First and Second 
Readings, and pass AN ORDINANCE (NO. 3382) AMENDING THE VILLAGE OF 
FRANKFORT CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 113, INTOXICATING LIQUOR, to 
reduce the number of Class F-2 liquor licenses from three to two in the Village of Frankfort. 

Clerk Schubert called the roll. Ayes: Trustees Borrelli, Farina, Petrow, Rossi, and Savaria. 
Nays: None. Absent: Trustee Leddin. The motion carried. 

• Mayor Ogle reported the Village's leaf collection program will run through November 28 and 
noted one final branch collection is scheduled for the week of November 28. 

• Mayor Ogle announced the Hickory Creek Middle School will host its annual Veteran's Day 
concert on Thursday, November 10, at 6:00 P.M. 

• Mayor Ogle reported "Shop Small Business Saturday" is Saturday, November 26. 

• Mayor Ogle reported the Frankfort Country Market ended its 2022 season on Sunday, October 
30. He thanked the vendors, residents, and all the visitors for another very successful year. 

• Mayor Ogle thanked all the residents who dropped off their extra Halloween candy to the 
Village Hall. He noted the donated candy will be delivered to the Manteno Veterans Home and 
other veteran organizations, the Will County Children's Advocacy Center, and the Crisis 
Center for South Suburbia. He also welcomed suggestions from residents for other sites for 
distribution of the donated candy. 

• Mayor Ogle commented on the well-attended inaugural Scary at the Prairie 5K Costume Run 
& Spooky Sprint event which took place on Saturday, October 22, and the Police Department's 
annual Safety Trunk or Treat event on Saturday, October 29. 

• Mayor Ogle noted Election Day is tomorrow, November 8, and encouraged residents to use 
their civic duty and vote. 

32



B-4
YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

The Village of Frankfort | 2040 Comprehensive Plan

B | downtown residential design guidelines

QUICK CHECKLIST

The set of questions listed below are framed in such a way that if 
your answer is “yes” - it is likely that the design is on the right track 
towards contributing to the type of character and quality Frankfort 
seeks to maintain. The photos shown to the right are examples of 
residences that fulfill these design ideals. If the answer is not clear, 
or is questionable, you should look for ways to improve upon this 
design element.

Note: All new residential construction, building additions, and 
development in general must comply with the Zoning Ordi-
nance regulations including but not limited to setbacks, height, 
lot coverage, and building materials.

1.  Does the building architecture complement and fit the character of 
surrounding  structures - consider scale, setback, building height?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

2   Does the structure’s architecture delineate and highlight the 
primary entrance? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

3.   Are the proposed building materials consistent with the intended 
architectural style of the home and complementary to the 
materials utilized on the homes in the surrounding area?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

4.  Are simplified roof forms provided that are consistent with both 
the intended architectural style and roof forms of homes in the 
surrounding area? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

5.  Are there step-backs to the facade and / or architectural details that 
add depth and dimension, i.e. porches, bay windows?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

6.   Are there interesting architectural details and landscape 
treatments integrated on site that complement the residence?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

7.  Are the predominate facade colors / building materials of a 
natural color palette that is complementary to the homes in the 
surrounding area.

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40

cgruba
Received



41

cgruba
Received



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57

cgruba
Received



58

cgruba
Received



59



FIR 5/8"

FIR 5/8" FIR 5/8"
FIP 3/4"

FCC

FCC

FMN

FIR 5/8"

FIR 5/8"

FIR 5/8"

FCC

FIR 3/4"

FIR 5/8"

FIR 5/8"

W.  NEBRASKA   STREET

P
U

B
LI

C
  A

LL
E

Y

0.20' S.

0.66' S. &
0.15' E. 0.54' S. &

0.35' E.

0.48' S.

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

B   L
   O

   C
   K

    
  2

B O
 W

 E
 N

 ' S
  A

 D
 D

.

T O

F R
 A

 N
 K

 F O
 R

 T

LOT 1

M
A

P
LE

  S
T

R
E

E
T

KANSAS   STREET

0.27' N. &
0.58' E.

0.50' S.

2.00' E.

0.77' N.
& 4.55' E.

W
A

LN
U

T
  S

T
R

E
E

T

B   L
   O

   C
   K

    
  7

O R
 I G

 I N
 A

 L  T
 O

 W
 N

O F

F R
 A

 N
 K

 F O
 R

 T

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER

BASIS OF BEARING

SITE DATA

9
9

3
0

 W
. 1

9
0

th
 S

tr
e

e
t,

 S
u

it
e

 L
M

o
k

e
n

a
, I

ll
in

o
is

 6
0

4
4

8
(7

0
8

) 
3

2
6

 --
 4

9
6

1
F

a
x

: (
7

0
8

) 
3

2
6

-4
6

9
2

IL
 P

r
o

f
. L

ic
. N

o
.: 

1
8

4
 --

 0
0

3
7

4
0

D
e

s
ig

n
T

e
k

 E
n

g
in

e
e

r
in

g
, I

n
c

.

DEI

&
o

n
s

u
lt

in
J

, &
iY

il
 (

n
J

in
e

e
r

in
J

 	
 L

a
n

G
 S

u
r

Y
e

\i
n

J

ABBREVIATIONSLEGEND
PLANTZ RE-SUBDIVISION

PRELIMINARY & FINAL PLAT

RESERVED FOR THE RECORDER OF WILL COUNTY

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

OWNER'S & SCHOOL DISTRICT NOTARY PUBLIC CERTIFICATE

VILLAGE BOARD CERTIFICATE

“ ” 

“ ” 

Return the original Mylar to:

DESIGNTEK ENGINEERING, INC.
9930 W. 190TH STREET, STE. L

MOKENA, ILLINOIS

Send all future tax bills to:

RONALD A PLANTZ
1033 S. BUTTERNUT CIR

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´
³ ´ ³ ´

³ ´

¶
³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´

³ ´ ³ ´

³ ´

³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³ ´ ³
´

WILL COUNTY CLERK

PLAN COMMISSION CERTIFICATE

TAX MAPPING CERTIFICATE

RECORDER'S CERTIFICATE

Submitted by:

RONALD A PLANTZ
1033 S. BUTTERNUT CIR

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

OWNER'S & SCHOOL DISTRICT CERTIFICATE

OF

R-2 ZONING DATA

60

AutoCAD SHX Text
(60' RIGHT OF WAY HERETOFORE DEDICATED PER DOC. 22888)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Line, S. 1/2, Lot 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Line, Lot 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Line, Lots 1, 2 & 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. Line, E. 67.50', Lots 2 & 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. Line, Lot 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.08'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pt. Lots 2 & 3 19-09-28-204-004 221 W. Nebraska St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pt. Lots 1 & 2 19-09-28-204-001 220 Kansas Street

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pt. Lots 1 & 2 19-09-28-204-003 214 Kansas Street

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. Line, Lot 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Line, Lot 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66' RIGHT OF WAY HERETOFORE DEDICATED PER DOC. 22888)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(60' RIGHT OF WAY HERETOFORE DEDICATED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(60' RIGHT OF WAY HERETOFORE DEDICATED PER DOC. 22888)

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. Line, Lot 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WE. Line, Lots 1, 2 & 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
6,687 Sq. Ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66') 66.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA: 6,687 SQUARE FEET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
19-09-28-204-005-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE BASIS OF BEARINGS IS THE ILLINOIS STATE PLANE SYSTEM - EAST ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
L:\Projects\2022\22-0577\Survey\dwg\Subdivision\22-0577 FP.dwg Plot Date:10/17/2022 11:12:52 AM By:steve Plot Date:10/17/2022 11:12:52 AM By:steve10/17/2022 11:12:52 AM By:steve By:stevesteve

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT INFORMATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Field Date: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBERT PLANTZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY / FINAL PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
213 W. NEBRASKA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
22-0577

AutoCAD SHX Text
 1" = 10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
08/10/2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
08/09/2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch = 50 ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT OR DEED LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD OR PIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECORD DIMENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEASURED DIMENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(###.##')

AutoCAD SHX Text
###.##

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC UTILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.U.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET MAG. NAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 5/8" x 24" IRON PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED EASEMENT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOUNDARY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQ. FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEING A RE-SUBDIVISION THE EAST 67.5 FEET OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF LOT 2 AND THE EAST 67.5 FEET OF LOT 3, IN BLOCK 2, IN BOWEN'S ADDITION TO THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, IN THE WEST 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
State of Illinois )   )       ) SS  ) SS  County of Will )   )   This is to certify that I, Steven J. Laub, an Illinois Professional Land Surveyor, No. 035-003160, have surveyed and re-subdivided the following described property: The East 67.5 feet of the South 1/2 OF Lot 2 and the East 67.5 feet of Lot 3, IN Block 2, in Bowen's Addition to the Village of Frankfort, located in the West 1/2 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 28, Township 35 North, Range 12 East of the Third Principal Meridian, according to the plat thereof recorded January 9, 1896 AS Document No. 22888, in Will County, Illinois. as shown by the annexed plat which is a correct representation of said survey and re-subdivision.   I further certify that this re-subdivision lies within the Village limits or within 1.5 miles of the corporate limits of the Village of Frankfort, Illinois, which has adopted a municipal plan and is exercising special powers authorized by Article 11, Division 12 of the Illinois municipal code, as now and hereafter amended and that all regulations enacted by the Village of Frankfort relative to plats and subdivisions have been complied with in the preparation of this plat.  I further certify that iron pipes 1" (o.d.) x 24" will be set at all lot corners except where concrete monuments are indicated, and that the plat hereon drawn correctly represents said survey and re-subdivision.   I further certify that the subject property lies within Zone "X" (Area of Minimal Flood Hazard) as defined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) of the Village of Frankfort, Map Number 17197C0326G, Effective Date of February 15, 2019. Dimensions are given in feet and decimal parts thereof and all curve lengths shown are arc dimensions. Given under my hand and seal at Mokena, Illinois, this ____ day of _________ A.D., 2022 __________________________________ Steven J. Laub  Illinois Professional Land Surveyor No. #035-003160  License expires on November. 30, 2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
,

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEVEN J LAUB STATE OF ILLINOIS 035-003160

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
State of Illinois )   )       ) SS  ) SS  County of Will )   )   I, __________________, a Notary Public in and for the said county and state aforesaid, do hereby  certify that ___________________________ and _________________________who is (are) personally known to me to be the same person(s) whose name(s) are subscribed to the foregoing instrument as such owner(s), appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that he (she) (they) signed and delivered the said instruments as his (her) (their) own free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes therein set forth.  Given under my hand and notorial seal this _____ day of _______________, A.D., 20____. ________________________________ Notary Public  State of Illinois )   )       ) SS  ) SS  County of Will )   )   Approved by the Mayor and the Board of Trustees of the Village of Frankfort, Illinois on this  ______ day of ________________, A.D., 20____,  __________ ____      Attest: _________________________ ____      Attest: _________________________ Attest: _________________________ Mayor             Village Clerk          Village Clerk       

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT PROVISIONS Easements are hereby reserved for and granted to the Village of Frankfort, Illinois and to those public utility companies operating under franchise from the Village of Frankfort, including, but not limited to, Comed, Ameritech, NiCor, Comcast and their respective successors and assigns, over all of the areas marked "Public Utilities & Drainage Easements" or (P.U. & D.E.) on the plat for the perpetual right, privilege and authority to construct, reconstruct, repair, inspect, maintain and operate various utility transmission and distribution systems, community antenna television systems and including storm and/or sanitary sewers, together with any and all necessary manholes, catch basins, connections, appliances and other structures and appurtenances as may be deemed necessary by said village, over, upon, along, under and through said indicated easements, together with right of access across the property for necessary personnel and equipment to do any of the above work. The right is also granted to cut down, trim or remove any trees, shrubs or other plants on the easements that interfere with the operation of the sewers or other utilities.  No permanent buildings or obstructions shall be placed on said easements without prior written consent of grantees, but same may be used for gardens, shrubs, landscaping and other purposes that do not then or later interfere with the aforesaid uses or rights. after installations of such facilities, the grade of said easement shall shall not be altered in a manner as to interfere with the proper operation and maintenance thereof. Where an easement is used both for sewers and other utilities, the other utility installation shall be subject to the ordinances of the Village of Frankfort. Easements are hereby reserved for and granted to the Village of Frankfort and other governmental authorities having jurisdiction of the land subdivided hereby, over the entire easement area for ingress, egress and the performance of municipal and other governmental services, including water, storm and sanitary sewer service and maintenance.

AutoCAD SHX Text
            NICOR EASEMENT PROVISIONS NICOR EASEMENT PROVISIONS An easement is hereby reserved for and granted to NICOR GAS COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, its successors and assigns, in all platted “easement” areas, streets, alleys, other easement” areas, streets, alleys, other areas, streets, alleys, other public ways and places shown on this plat, said easement to be for the installation, maintenance, relocation, renewal and removal of gas mains and appurtenances for the purpose of serving all areas shown on this plat as well as other property, whether or not contiguous thereto.  No buildings or other structures shall be constructed or erected in any such “easement” areas, streets, alleys, or other public ways or places nor shall any other use be made thereof which will interfere with easement” areas, streets, alleys, or other public ways or places nor shall any other use be made thereof which will interfere with areas, streets, alleys, or other public ways or places nor shall any other use be made thereof which will interfere with the easements reserved and granted hereby.  

AutoCAD SHX Text
 EASEMENT PROVISIONS EASEMENT PROVISIONS  An easement for serving the subdivision and other property with electric and communication service is hereby reserved for and granted to    Commonwealth Edison Company     and   and SBC - Ameritech Illinois a.k.a. Illinois Bell Telephone Company, Grantees, their respective licensees, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, to construct, operate, repair, maintain, modify, reconstruct, replace, supplement, relocate and remove, from time to time, poles, guys, anchors, wires, cables, conduits, manholes, transformers, pedestals, equipment cabinets or other facilities used in connection with overhead and underground transmission and distribution of electricity, communications, sounds and signals in, over, under, across, along and upon the surface of the property shown within the dashed or dotted lines (or similar designation) on the plat and marked “Easement”, “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, Easement”, “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, , “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, , “Public Utility Easement”, Public Utility Easement”, , P.U.E” (or similar designation), the property designated in the Declaration of Condominium and/or on this plat as “Common Elements”, and the property designated  (or similar designation), the property designated in the Declaration of Condominium and/or on this plat as “Common Elements”, and the property designated Common Elements”, and the property designated , and the property designated on the plat as “common area or areas”, and the property designated on the plat for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the rights to install common area or areas”, and the property designated on the plat for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the rights to install , and the property designated on the plat for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the rights to install required service connections over or under the surface of each lot and common area or areas to serve improvements thereon, or on adjacent lots, and common area or areas, the right to cut, trim or remove trees, bushes, roots and saplings and to clear obstructions from the surface and subsurface as may be reasonably required incident to the rights herein given, and the right to enter upon the subdivided property for all such purposes. Obstructions shall not be placed over Grantees’ facilities  facilities or in, upon or over the property within the dashed or dotted lines (or similar designation) marked “Easement”, “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” Easement”, “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” , “Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” Utility Easement”, “Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” , “Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” Public Utility Easement”, “P.U.E” , “P.U.E” P.U.E” (or similar designation) without the prior written consent of Grantees.  After installation of any such facilities, the grade of the subdivided property shall not be altered in a manner so as to interfere with the proper operation and maintenance thereof. The term “Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in the “Condominium Property Act”, Chapter 765 ILCS 605/2, as amended from time Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in the “Condominium Property Act”, Chapter 765 ILCS 605/2, as amended from time  shall have the meaning set forth for such term in the “Condominium Property Act”, Chapter 765 ILCS 605/2, as amended from time Condominium Property Act”, Chapter 765 ILCS 605/2, as amended from time , Chapter 765 ILCS 605/2, as amended from time to time. The term “common area or areas” is defined as a lot, parcel or area of real property, the beneficial use and enjoyment of which is reserved in whole or as an common area or areas” is defined as a lot, parcel or area of real property, the beneficial use and enjoyment of which is reserved in whole or as an  is defined as a lot, parcel or area of real property, the beneficial use and enjoyment of which is reserved in whole or as an appurtenance to the separately owned lots, parcels or areas within the planned development, even though such be otherwise designated on the plat by terms such as outlots”, “common elements”, “open space”, “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common , “common elements”, “open space”, “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common common elements”, “open space”, “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common , “open space”, “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common open space”, “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common , “open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common open area”, “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common , “common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common common ground”, “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common , “parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common parking” and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common  and “common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common common area”.  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common .  The term “common area or areas”, and “Common common area or areas”, and “Common , and “Common Common Elements” include real property surfaced with interior driveways and walkways, but excludes real property physically occupied by a building, Service Business District or  include real property surfaced with interior driveways and walkways, but excludes real property physically occupied by a building, Service Business District or structures such as a pool, retention pond or mechanical equipment. Relocation of facilities will be done by Grantees at cost of the Grantor/Lot Owner, upon written request.

AutoCAD SHX Text
11th

AutoCAD SHX Text
State of Illinois)       ) SS  ) SS  County of Will )   )   This is to certify that I find no delinquent or unpaid current taxes against any of the real estate described in the foregoing certificate.  Dated this ____ day of ____________, A.D., 20____.  ________________________ Will County Clerk    State of Illinois ) ) ) SS County of Will ) ) I,_____________________________________, Chairman of the Village of Frankfort Plan Commission, do certify that on this ____ of ________________ A.D. 20____, this plat of subdivision was duly approved by the Plan Commission of the Village of Frankfort. _____________________________ Chairman State of Illinois ) ) ) SS County of Will  ) ) I, ______________________________________, do hereby certify that I have checked the legal description of the final plat and find that said plat to be a true and correct representation of the subdivision as made by the surveyor. The property hereon described is located on Tax Map __________________ and identified as permanent real estate tax number(s) 19-09-28-204-005-0000 Dated this ____, day of ________________________, A.D. 20___. _______________________________________ Director

AutoCAD SHX Text
State of Illinois ) ) ) SS County of Will  ) ) This instrument, No. _________________________, was filed for record in the Recorder's Office of Will County,  Illinois on the ____ day of ______________________, A.D. 20____ at ________o'clock ___.m and was recorded in Book ____ of Plats on Page _____. __________________________________ Will County Recorder

AutoCAD SHX Text
August

AutoCAD SHX Text
This professional service conforms to the current Illinois minimum standards for boundary surveys.

AutoCAD SHX Text
State of Illinois)              ) SS County of Will ) ) I, Robert A. Plantz, as legal title holders to the property hereon described in the Surveyor's certificate, do hereby certify that we have caused said property to be surveyed, re-subdivided and platted as shown and indicated thereon, for the purposes therein set forth, and do hereby acknowledge and adopt the same under the style and title thereon indicated. This is to additionally certify that as owners of the property hereon described in the surveyor's certificate and known as Plantz Re-subdivison, to the best of knowledge, is located within the boundary of Frankfort Community Consolidated School District 157C Lincolnway Community High School District 210 Joliet Junior College District 525 Dated at ___________________________ this ________ day of ______________ 20___. By: ______________________________    Ronald A. Plantz  

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECORD LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FCC

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND CUT CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT YARD SETBACK:  30 FEET 30 FEET SIDE YARD SETBACK: TOTAL OF 25 FEETTOTAL OF 25 FEET(NOT LESS THAN 10FEET ON ANY SIDE) REAR YARD SETBACK: 30 FEET30 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCM

cgruba
Received



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                    July 27, 2023 

 
Project: Circle K Redevelopment 
Meeting Type:  NA – Request to Continue Public Hearing to August 10, 2023  
Requests: Proposed Annexation (via an Annexation Agreement); Zoning Map Amendment 

(Rezoning) from the default E-R Estate Residential District to B-2 Community Business 
District (currently Will County C-2 and C-3); Special Use Permits for (1) an automobile 
fueling station, (2) accessory liquor sales, and (3) extended hours of operation.  The 
pending Annexation Agreement includes requests for variations related to building and 
fuel canopy setbacks, landscape yards, plant materials, signage, and cross-access. 

Location: 7654 W. Lincoln Highway 
Applicant:  RDK Ventures, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  RDK Ventures, LLC 
Consultants:  Matt Adas, RLA, and Ryan Swanson, P.E., Arc Design Resources, Inc.  
Representative: Matt Adas, RLA, and Ryan Swanson, P.E., Arc Design Resources, Inc.   
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 
The PC/ZBA may recall that the public hearing for the subject application was opened on May 11, 2023 and then 
after a lengthy discussion, the public hearing was kept open and continued to June 22, 2023 to allow the applicant 
to address various comments.  The public hearing was subsequently kept open and continued to July 27, 2023.  
During this time, the applicant and project consultants have been working with the Village Engineer regarding the 
size of the proposed underground stormwater management system.  The project architect is also working on revised 
Building and Fuel Canopy Elevations, as well as a revised Signage Plan, all of which have not yet been submitted for 
staff review.  Staff and the applicant respectfully request that the public hearing again be continued to August 10, 
2023.  A motion to continue the public hearing to August 10, 2023, would be in order. 
 
   



  1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                   July 27, 2023 

 
Project: Move Pilates Studio 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Requests: Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation 
Location: 18-20 Elwood Street  
Applicant:  Ellen Foody, Lessee 
Prop. Owner:  Five Kings Properties, LLC 
Consultants:  None  
Representative: Applicant  
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 0.82 acres                                                                     Figure 1: Location Map  
 PIN(s): 19-09-21-410-035-0000 
Existing Zoning:  H1 Historic District 
Prop.  Zoning: H1 Historic District, with Special Use Permits 

for Indoor Recreation and extended hours of 
operation 

Building(s) / Lot(s): One building / One lot 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 
Subject 

Property 
Commercial Mixed Use H1 

North  Vacant H1 and Single 
Family Residential 

Mixed Use H1 
and R2 

South  Old Plank Road Trail    Old Plank Road 
Trail 

R2 

East Parking Lot Mixed Use H1 
West Parking Lot and 

Commercial 
Mixed Use H1 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Ellen Foody, owner and founder of Move Pilates Studio LLC, a tenant/lessee on behalf of the property owners, Five 
Kings Properties, LLC, has filed an application requesting (1) a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation for a health/fitness facility in 
the H-1 Historic District and (2) a Special Use Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 5:00 a.m.), for the property located 
at 18-20 Elwood Street, Frankfort, IL 60423 (PIN: 19-09-21-410-035-0000). 

 
Attachments 

1. 2023 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
2. Site Photographs taken 7.18.23 
3. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey dated 10.1.18 
4. Floor Plan received 7.10.23 



  2 
 

5. Findings of Fact provided by applicant and received 6.28.23 
6.   Special Use Permit Findings of Fact Form for Plan Commissioners 

Analysis 
In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Proposed Use 

• The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation to operate a health/fitness facility 
(pilates studio) called Move Pilates Studio.  In kind, the applicant is seeking approval for extended hours of 
operation (opening at 5 a.m.). 

o The Village of Frankfort’s Table of Permitted and Special Uses specifies that in order to operate an 
indoor recreation use within the H1 District, special use approval is required. 

o Article 6 Section C Part 2 in the Village Ordinance regards permissible hours of operation 
and states the following: 
 
Non-residential uses may be open for business between the hours of 7 am and 11 pm. 
Establishments with operating hours outside of these normal operating hours must be 
approved as a special use according to the regulations of Article 3, Section E. 
 

• The subject property within the Grainery Village Square, a 13,900 commercial building on a 0.82-acre parcel 
located at the SWC of Elwood Street and White Street.  

• The subject tenant space is 18 and 20 Elwood Street which is approximately 2,000 square feet 
total. The previous tenant/use of the subject units was Plank Road Cyclery, a retail bicycle shop. 

• Existing tenants of the building include The Wine Thief, Kernel Sweetooth, Old Plank Pizza 
Company, Fuel Health + IV Studio and The Lasr Lair. 

• Move Pilates Studio is a boutique fitness studio that specializes in Reformer Pilates. The studio 
offers intentionally small group classes. Each class will hold 8-10 people with one (1) instructor. 
There is a total of five (5) employees. However, there will only be two employees on site at the 
busiest time; the instructor of a class and the owner/founder of the business. 

• Per the submitted floor plan, the subject tenant space is 37’10” wide and 48’2.5” deep which 
equates to 1,823 square feet.  The front of the space will have a front desk and seating area for 
cueing, the middle of the space will be the activity area including ten (10) Pilates Reformer 
Machines®, and the rear has a private room/office as well as a bathroom for patrons.  

• The tenant did renovations to create a 14’x14’ private room/office in the rear of the space.  The 
room will connect to one of the existing bathrooms and exit doors. This renovation privatizes one 
(1) out of the two (2) existing bathrooms and one (1) out of the existing four (4) access points. The 
Village’s Building Department has been reviewed the renovation project and has been in close 
contact with the applicant to ensure all is compliant with the Building Code. 

• The proposed business hours of operation are: 
 
Monday: 5:00 a.m.-11:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m.  
Tuesday: 5:00 a.m.-11:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m.  
Wednesday: 5:00 a.m.-11:45 a.m. and 4:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m.  
Thursday: 5:00 a.m.-11:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m.  
Fridays: 5:00 a.m.-10:15 a.m.  
Saturdays and Sundays (occasionally off on Sundays): 8:00 a.m.-10:00 a.m.  
 

• The studio will be closed during the day outside of the above proposed business hours. Some days, 
approximately three days out of the week, the owner will have private 1:1 sessions from 11 a.m.-
2 p.m. 



  3 
 

 
Existing Parking  

• There are 47 parking spaces provided on the subject lot dedicated for the commercial building’s 
tenants. Staff finds that parking that is required for tenants of the subject lot are not all located 
directly on site.  

• Article 7 Section B Part 5 in the Village Ordinance regards parking adjustments to the mimumim 
number of parking spaces required, subject to a case-by case approval by the Plan Commission, 
and states the following: 
 
The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust parking  
requirements: 

1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements.  
The petitioner shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the  
Plan Commission that the operation will require less parking than the Ordinance  
requires. 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written 
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared, or off-site 
parking spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand. 

a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking  
lots are large enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that  
parking spaces will be shared at specific times of the day (shared parking, where  
one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and another activity uses the  
spaces during evening hours.) 
b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required  
parking and shall be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the  
principal use that it is intended to serve 

 
• There are adjacent public parking lots that provide sufficient parking to the subject site in addition 

to on-street public parking. The adjacent lot to the west is the Chamber of Commerce public 
parking lot which consists of 38 parking spaces. The Breidert Green public parking lot consists of 
59 parking spaces and provides parking near the rear doors of the subject building.  

• The proposed use is classified as a “health and athletic club” for comparative purposes to calculate 
required parking spaces.  Parking for health and athletic clubs shall be one-half (0.5) space per 
exercise station; plus, one (1) space per 1,000 square feet of activity area; plus, one (1) space per 
employee for the work shift with the largest number of employees. 

• According to the floor plan submitted by the applicant, there are ten (10) Pilates Reformer 
Machines®, and the activity area is approximately 2,000 square feet. Additionally, there will be at 
most two (2) employees during peak hours.  

• The required number of parking spaces for the proposed use in this case is nine (9). 
o The previous tenant, Plank Road Cyclery, had a requirement of providing eight (8) spaces.  

• Given that there is shared parking within the area and the proposed business has a unique 
schedule, it is staff’s opinion that the existing parking is adequate.   

• Staff’s parking analysis for the subject site is shown below (the proposed use is bolded): 
 

UNIT(S) 
BUSINESS NAME 

(USE CLASSIFICATION FOR 
PARKING) 

UNIT 
(SQ. FT.) 

PARKING SPACES REQUIRED 
(USE PARKING CALCULATION) 



  4 
 

6 The Wine Thief 
(restaurant, full service) 

3000 45 
(1 per 100 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

employee) 
10-12 Kernel Sweetooth 

(indoor retail sales of goods) 
2000 11 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 
employee) 

14-16 Old Plank Pizza Co. 
(restaurant, full service) 

2000 29 
(1 per 100 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

employee) 
18-20 Move Pilates Studio 

(health and athletic club) 
2000 9 

(0.5 per exercise station; plus 1 
per 1,000 sq. ft. of activity 
area; plus 1 per employee) 

22 Fuel Health + IV Studio 
(personal services) 

900 6 
(1 per 200 sq. ft; plus 1 per 

employee) 
24 The Lasr Lair 

(personal services) 
1400 9 

(1 per 200 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 
employee) 

TOTAL SPACES REQUIRED  109 
TOTAL SPACES PROVIDED ON-SITE 47 

TOTAL SPACES PROVIDED ON CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 
PUBLIC PARKING LOT SITE 

38 

TOTAL SPACES PROVIDED ON BREIDERT GREEN PUBLIC 
PARKING LOT SITE 

59 

 
Standards for Special Uses  

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan 
Commission must use to evaluate every special use request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan 
Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  



  5 
 

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 

it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 

Affirmative Motion    

For the Plan Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motion for the 
special use request:  

Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation for a health/fitness facility in the H-1 
Historic District and a Special Use Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 5 a.m.), for the property located at 18-20 
Elwood Street, Frankfort, IL 60423 (PIN: 19-09-21-410-035-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, 
and Findings of Fact, subject to the following two (2) conditions:   

1. The applicant shall obtain a Business License; and 
2. The business shall implement a minimum 15-minute break in between classes to accommodate parking 

space turnover. 
 

 
 

 



Notes

18 and 20 Elwood - Move Pilates Studio

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and processed 
from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This 
disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express or 
implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement 
of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you 
have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data 
can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any 
questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Miles0.0

Legend

1: 1,128WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere
0 0.02

Parcels
Townships



18-20 ELWOOD ST. SITE PHOTOS TAKEN 7.18.23  

 

FRONT OF BUILDING  

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REAR OF BUILDING

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ADJACENT CHAMBER PARKING LOT 

 







 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

Move Pilates Studio will only bring positives to the the downtown area. The 
establishment will be kept clean and up to date to keep the downtown Frankfort 
atmosphere what it is currently. 

Move Pilates Studio will bring in a new flow of people to the area and benefit all 
surrounding businesses. It will bring more people onto the bike/walking path as well, 
as my clients are focused on their health. 

Move Pilates Studio is excited to work alongside so many other amazing businesses 
that fill the downtown area. We will do our part to bring in new clientele that will 
benefit all of us in the area to succeed. Community is one of our most important 
aspects of the business model - and this town gives us that. 

Move Pilates Studio is only making the interior space look better by bringing it up to 
date inside with the nicest furnishings, flooring, etc. We are not changing anything on 
the exterior of the building. We will maintain the outside of the building to always look 
presentable to keep up with standards.  



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

All utilities are already exsisting in/around the unit. All systems are up to date and 
ready to be used. 

Move Pilates Studio has different hours of operation than most of the other 
businesses that are in the plaza, so that will help with traffic minimization. We also 
have plenty of parking in our alloted spaces outside the unit, and in the public lots 
surrounding the space. 

Move Pilates Studio will operate under this special use permit as the Village Board 
says. We are here to follow the regulations and the standards that the downtown 
Frankfort area has worked so hard to maintain. The charm that the area has is 
beyond desirable, and something we will work hard to stay true to. 



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 



  1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA July 27, 2023 

 
 
Project: Veelii Spa LLC     
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Special Use for Massage Establishment 
Location: 9975 W Lincoln Highway, Suite #3 
Applicant:  Jing Wang, Leasee 
Prop. Owner: Woo Realty LLC 
Consultant: None 
Representative: Applicant 
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 
Lot Size: 0.5 acres                                Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-21-416-002-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-2/Community Business District  
Proposed Zoning: B-2/Community Business District, with a Special 

Use Permit for a Massage Establishment 
Buildings / Lots: 1 building / 1 lot 
Total Sq. Ft.: ±600 sq. ft. (suite #3); ±4200 (bldg. total) 
  
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 
Subject 

Property 
Commercial General 

Commercial 
B-2 

North Single Family 
Residential 

Single Family 
Detached 

R-2 

South 
(County) 

Single Family 
Residential 

Single Family 
Detached 

R-2 

East Commercial  General 
Commercial 

B-2 

West Commercial General 
Commercial 

B-2 
 

 
Project Summary  
The applicant, tenant, on behalf of Woo Realty LLC, property owner, has filed an application for a Special Use 
Permit to operate Veelii Spa located at 9975 W. Lincoln Highway, Suite #3, Frankfort, Illinois 60423 (PIN 19-09-21-
416-002-0000). Per the Village Zoning Ordinance, to operate a massage establishment in the B-2 Community 
Business District, a special use permit is required. The subject site is a 4,200 square foot commercial multi-tenant 
building on a 0.5-acre lot that has three (3) tenant spaces. Suite #3 is the subject tenant space for the proposed 
massage use, which was formerly Edward Jones Investments, located on the west corner of the building.   
 

Attachments 
• 2023 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Site Photographs taken 7.18.23 
• Floor Plan received 7.7.23 



  2 

• Plat of Survey dated 4.9.92 
• Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11.1, Use Regulations for Massage Establishments with Staff 

Comments 
• Findings of Fact responses provided by applicant and received 7.7.23 
• Special Use Permit Findings of Fact for Plan Commissioners  

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Proposed Use 

• The applicant is seeking a special use permit to operate Veelii Spa located at 9975 W. Lincoln Highway, 
Suite #3.  

• The subject site is a 0.5-acre lot which consists of a 4,200 square foot commercial multi-tenant building 
that has three (3) tenant spaces total and 26 parking spaces.  

• There is an existing cross-access agreement between the subject lot and the adjacent lot to the east, 
where Aurelio’s Pizza is located.  

• The subject tenant space is approximately 600 square feet and was formerly occupied by Edward Jones 
Investments as an office use.  

• Other existing uses within the subject building include a dentist office (Oasis Dental Spa) and an indoor 
recreation facility (Treadfit). 

• Veelii Spa LLC has two existing locations, one in Mokena and another in Homewood.  
o Website to Mokena location: https://veeliispa.com/ 
o Google images of Homewood location (newly approved, no website available yet):  

 

 

https://veeliispa.com/


  3 

  
• The business plans to be open every day with the following hours of operation: Monday through Sunday 

10:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m.  
• There will be one (1) employee/licensed massage therapist, in other words the proposed business will be 

owner operated at any given time. The applicant provided staff with her licensed massage therapist 
certificate.  

• The business only offers massages without any ancillary uses. The business takes a majority of clients by a 
prior appointment basis. 

• Per the floor plan submitted by the applicant, there will be only one (1) massage therapy room. 
Additionally, there is one (1) bathroom to the rear that patrons of the business can use. The open space 
on the floor plan will be furnished, including a front desk area and cabinets for business products. 

• Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11 regards use regulations for Massage Establishments 
(included as an attachment). These regulations will get further reviewed by the Building Department prior 
to the issuance of a business license. The owner has agreed to comply to the regulations, and staff has 
included compliance with the use regulations and a business license as a condition for the special use 
permit. 
 

Existing Parking 

• The parcel currently provides 26 parking spaces, including one (1) ADA compliant parking space.   
• The proposed use is classified as a “personal service” which the Zoning Code requires one (1) space per 

200 square feet of gross floor area; plus, one (1) space per employee for the work shift with the largest 
number of employees.  

• The proposed business is approximately 600 square feet and will only have one employee, equating to 
three (3) required parking spaces.  

• Provided parking is sufficient and complies with the Village Ordinance’s off-street parking requirements. 
Staff’s parking analysis for the subject site is shown below (the proposed use is bolded): 
 

UNIT(S) 
BUSINESS NAME 

(USE CLASSIFICATION FOR PARKING) 
UNIT 

(SQ. FT.) 
PARKING SPACES REQUIRED 

(USE PARKING CALCULATION) 
1 Oasis Dental Spa 

(health clinic) 
1600 13 

(1 per employee; plus 3 per exam 
room) 

2 Treadfit Frankfort 
(indoor recreation facility) 

2000 5 
(1 employee; plus 1 per 4 patrons) 

3 Veelii Spa 
(massage establishment) 

600 3 
(1 per employee; plus 1 per 200 sq. 

ft) 
TOTAL REQUIRED  21 

TOTAL PROVIDED ON-SITE 26 
Surplus/Deficit +5 

 
 

Standards for Special Uses 
 
Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan 
Commission must use to evaluate every special use request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan 
Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  
 



  4 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood.  
 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 
d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at variance 
with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already constructed, or in the 
course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the applicable district, as to cause a 
substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being provided.  
 
f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize 
traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 
Affirmative Motion 
 

For the Plan Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motion for the 
special use request:  

Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for a Massage Establishment to operate in the B-2 
Community Business District for the property located at 9975 W. Lincoln Highway, Suite #3, Frankfort, Illinois 
60423 (PIN 19-09-21-416-002-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of 
Fact, subject to the following condition:   
 

1. The applicant shall comply with Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11.1, Use Regulations for 
Massage Establishments. 

2. The applicant shall obtain a Business License. 
 

 



Notes

9975 W. Lincoln Hwy, Suite #3 - Veelii Spa

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and processed 
from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This 
disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express or 
implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement 
of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you 
have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data 
can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any 
questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Miles0.0

Legend

1: 1,128WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere
0 0.02

Parcels
Townships



9975 W. LINCOLN HIGHWAY SITE PHOTOS TAKEN 7.18.23  

 

FRONT OF BUILDING (SUBJECT SUITE IS THE FORMER EDWARD JONES INVESTMENTS)

 



 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REAR OF BUILDING 

 

 







Village of Frankfort 
Article 5: Use Regulations 

1 September 17, 2001 

 

 

 
Part 11.1: Massage Establishments 
(Am. Ord. 2174, passed 07.05.05) 

 
a. Facilities 

 
1. Cabinets. Closed cabinets shall be provided and used for the storage of clean linens, 

towels, and other materials used in connection with administering massages. All 
soiled linens, towels, and other materials shall be kept in properly covered containers 
or cabinets, which containers or cabinets shall be kept separate from the clean 
storage areas. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. 
 

2. Dressing rooms. Provision of a separate dressing room for each sex must be 
available on the premises. Doors to such dressing rooms shall open inward and shall 
be self-closing. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. The dressing room will be in the 
massage room, the massage room shall not be partitioned, so the patron has privacy 
in the massage room/dressing room. 

 
3. Electrical equipment. All electrical equipment shall be installed in accordance with 

the building codes adopted by the Village of Frankfort. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. 

 
4. Lavatories or wash basins. Lavatories or wash basins provided with both hot and 

cold running water shall be installed in either the toilet room or the vestibule. 
Lavatories or wash basins shall be provided with soap in a dispenser and with sanitary 
towels. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit; there is an existing bathroom in the 
suite. 

 
5. Light and ventilation. All portions of massage establishments shall be provided with 

adequate light and ventilation by means of windows or skylights with an area of not 
less than one-eighth (1/8) of the total floor area, or shall be provided with approved 
artificial light and a mechanical operating ventilating system. When windows or 
skylights are used for ventilation, at least one-half (1/2) of the total required window 
area shall be operable. To allow for adequate ventilation, cubicles, rooms, and areas 
provided for patrons’ use not served directly by a required window, skylight, or 
mechanical system of ventilation shall be constructed so that the height of partitions 
does not exceed seventy five percent (75%) of the floor-to-ceiling height of the area in 
which they are located. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit; ventilation is mostly needed for 
heat/steam rooms which does not apply to the proposed massage establishment. 
Windows are existing (two 6'x4'8" windows). 

 
6. Locks. No massage service may be carried on within any cubicle, room, booth, or any 

area within a massage establishment that is fitted with a door capable of being 
locked. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit; the massage room shall not have a 



Village of Frankfort 
Article 5: Use Regulations 

2 September 17, 2001 

 

 

lock. 
 

7. Plumbing. All plumbing fixtures shall be installed in accordance with the building 
codes adopted by the Village of Frankfort. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit; there is an existing bathroom in the 
suite. 

 
8. Service sink. The premises shall be equipped with a service sink for a custodial 

services. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. 

 
9. Toilet facilities. Toilet facilities shall be provided in convenient locations. When five 

(5) or more employees and patrons of different sexes are on the premises at the 
same time, separate toilet facilities shall be provided. A single water closet per sex 
shall be provided for each twenty (20) or more employees or patrons of that sex on 
the premises at any one time. Urinals may be substituted for water closets after one 
water closet has been provided. All toilet rooms shall be equipped with self-closing 
doors opening in the direction of ingress to the toilet rooms. Toilets shall be 
designated as to the sex accommodated therein. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit; there is an existing bathroom in the 
suite. With only one employee and one massage room (which shall only have one 
patron at a time). 

 
10. Waterproofing. Construction of rooms used for toilets, tubs, steam baths, and 

showers shall be made waterproof with approved waterproofed materials and shall 
be installed in accordance with the building codes adopted by the Village of 
Frankfort. For toilet rooms, toilet room vestibules, and rooms containing bathtubs, 



Village of Frankfort 
Article 5: Use Regulations 

3 September 17, 2001 

 

 

 
 

there shall be a waterproof floor covering, which will be carried up all walls to a 
height of at least six inches (6”), and floors shall be covered up on base with at least 
three-fourths inch (3/4”) cover. The walls of all toilet rooms and rooms containing 
bathtubs shall be finished to a height of six feet (6’) with a smooth, nonabsorbent 
finish surface of Keene cement, tile, or similar material. Steam rooms and shower 
compartments shall have waterproof ceilings, floors, and walls approved by the 
Building and Zoning Department. 
Staff Comments: Not applicable to the proposed massage establishment. 

 
11. Wet and dry heat rooms. Floors of wet and dry heat rooms shall be adequately 

pitched to one or more floor drains properly connected to the sewer. (Exception: dry 
heat rooms with wooden floors need not be provided with pitched floors and floor 
drains.) A source of hot water must be available within the immediate vicinity of dry 
and wet heat rooms to facilitate cleaning. 
Staff Comments: Not applicable to the proposed massage establishment. 

 
b. Operating conditions 

 
1. Cleanliness. Every portion of a massage establishment, including appliances, 

apparatus, and personnel shall be kept clean and operated in a sanitary condition. 
The premises shall have adequate equipment for disinfecting and sterilizing 
nondisposable instruments and materials used in administering massages, and such 
nondisposable instruments and materials shall disinfected after use on each patron. 
Oils, creams, lotions, or other preparations used in administering massages shall be 
kept in clean, closed containers or cabinets. Wet and dry heat rooms, shower 
compartments, and toilet rooms shall be thoroughly cleaned each day the business 
is in operation. Bathtubs shall be thoroughly cleaned after each use. Eating in the 
massage work areas shall not be permitted. Animals, except service animals for 
persons with disabilities, shall not be permitted in the massage work areas. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit and by twice a year inspections. 

 
2. Employees. All employees and operators shall be clean and shall wear suitable clean, 

nontransparent outer garments, covering the sexual and genital areas, whose use is 
restricted to the massage establishment. It shall be unlawful for any person, 
knowingly or recklessly, in a massage establishment, to touch with any part of the 
body, to fondle in any manner, or to massage the genitals, pubic area, anus, or 
perineum of any person, or the vulva or breasts of a female. No employee or 
operator shall perform, offer, or agree to perform any act that would require the 
touching of these areas. Patrons must cover these areas with towels, cloths, or 
undergarments when in the presence of an employee or operator. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit and by twice a year inspections. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Village of Frankfort 
Article 5: Use Regulations 

4 September 17, 2001 

 

 

3. Licenses. Persons administering massage for compensation must be licensed by the 
Illinois Department of Professional Regulation as massage therapists. A massage 
establishment must maintain a register of all persons employed as massage 
therapists and their license numbers. Such register shall be available for inspection 
at all times during regular business hours. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. 

 
4. Price rates. Price rates for all services shall be prominently posted in the reception 

area in a location available to all prospective customers. 
Staff Comments: Will comply at building permit. 

 



Village of Frankfort 

5 September 17, 2001 

 

 

Article 5: Use Regulations 

c. Inspections 
 

1. Following application. The Village Clerk, upon receiving an application from a 
massage establishment seeking a general business license, shall refer the application 
to a Code Official, who shall inspect the proposed premises and shall make written 
recommendations to the Village Clerk. A general business license application for a 
massage establishment may be rejected if the operation as proposed by the 
applicant will not comply with all building codes adopted by the Village of Frankfort 
or regulations adopted by the Village Clerk or the Director of Building and Zoning. 

 
2. On-going. A Code Official shall from time to time and at least twice a year, make an 

inspection of the public areas of each massage establishment in the Village of 
Frankfort for the purposes of determining that the provisions of this Part are 
complied with. 

 
Part 12: Mining 
Mining, and/or the extraction of minerals, sand, gravel, topsoil or other aggregates, including equipment, 
buildings or structures for screening, crushing, mixing, washing or storage shall be subject to the 
following: 

 
a. No open pit or shaft shall be less than 200 feet from any public road or less than 500 feet 

from any adjacent residential district. 
 

b. All buildings or structures shall be located not less than 200 feet from any property line. 
All grinding, or processing machinery shall be located at the farthest point on the 
property from residential use as feasible. 

 
c. The borders of the property adjacent to or across the street from any district other than 

an industrial district shall be fenced with a solid fence, wall, or landscape material at least 
six (6) feet in height. 

 
Part 13: Office and Professional Service 
A permitted business office may not display or sell chattels or goods, wares or merchandise on the 
premises without special use approval, with the exception of limited sales of product in connection with 
professional services rendered on site. (Am. Ord. 2495, passed 08.04.08) 

 
Part 14: Outdoor Seating Associated with a Permitted Restaurant 
Outdoor seating, when associated with a permitted restaurant, shall only be permitted in accordance 
with the following: 

 
a. All seating areas must be enclosed by a fence or wall of at least 3 feet in height. 

 
b. Where seating is permitted adjacent to a public sidewalk, at least 5 feet in width of said 

sidewalk must remain unobstructed. 







 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 


	7-27 Agenda and Minutes Combined.pdf
	7.27.23.pdf
	PC Minutes 7.13.23 DRAFT.pdf

	Binder1 - 213 Nebraska.pdf
	0. Staff Report PUBLIC HEARING 7.27.23
	1. GIS aerial 1-1000
	2. Survey
	3. Findings of Fact - Variation 7.10.23
	4. PC Minutes 8.11.22 (excerpt)
	4. PC Minutes 10.27.22 (excerpt)
	5. VB meeting minutes 11.7.22 (excerpt)
	6. Quick Checklist excerpt Comp Plan
	7. Structural analysis of old house 6.19.23
	8. All pics - 2 per page
	9. Color Rendering 7.11.23
	10. Submittal 7.12.23
	10. Tree Survey 7.14.23
	11. Grading Plan 7.11.23
	12. Approved Plat of Resubdivision

	Continuance Request for PC-ZBA PUBLIC HEARING 7-27-23.pdf
	Binder for 18-20 Elwood St (Move Pilates Studio SU.PH).pdf
	Move Pilates - July 27 2023.pdf
	Aeriel Image.pdf
	16416_ALTA.pdf
	Pictures.pdf
	Floor Plan FINAL 7-10.pdf
	Final Findings of Fact.pdf
	Special Use Standards_Commissioners.pdf

	Binder for 9975 W Lincoln Hwy (Veelii Spa SU.PH).pdf
	Veelii Spa - July 27 2023.pdf
	Aeriel Image.pdf
	Pictures.pdf
	Floor Plan.pdf
	Plat.pdf
	Massage Regulations - Veelii Spa
	Part 11.1: Massage Establishments
	Part 12: Mining
	Part 13: Office and Professional Service
	Part 14: Outdoor Seating Associated with a Permitted Restaurant

	Applicant Finding of Fact.pdf
	Special Use Standards_Commissioners.pdf




